

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

University of Kentucky Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

2006

NEURAL CONTROL OF CARDIOVASCULAR FUNCTION FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY IN HUMANS

Sevda Coban Aslan University of Kentucky, sevdaaslan2@hotmail.com

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Aslan, Sevda Coban, "NEURAL CONTROL OF CARDIOVASCULAR FUNCTION FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY IN HUMANS" (2006). *University of Kentucky Doctoral Dissertations*. 255. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/gradschool_diss/255

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in University of Kentucky Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

Sevda Coban Aslan

The Graduate School

University of Kentucky

2006

NEURAL CONTROL OF CARDIOVASCULAR FUNCTION FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY IN HUMANS

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate School at the University of Kentucky

> By Sevda Coban Aslan

Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. Abhijit Patwardhan, Associate Professor of Biomedical Engineering

Lexington, Kentucky

2006

Copyright © Sevda Coban Aslan 200

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

NEURAL CONTROL OF CARDIOVASCULAR FUNCTION FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY IN HUMANS

Maintenance of stable arterial blood pressure during orthostatic challenges is a major problem after spinal cord injury (SCI). Since early participation in rehabilitation is critically important in reducing long term morbidity, recovering the ability to regulate blood pressure during therapy is essential for individuals with SCI. The objective of our study was to investigate short term cardiovascular function of able-bodied (AB), paraplegic (PARA) and tetraplegic (TETRA) subjects in response to head up tilt (HUT) as an early indicator of autonomic damage that might forewarn of future orthostatic regulatory problems. We acquired cardiovascular variables from able-bodied (AB; n=11), paraplegic (PARA; n=5) and tetraplegic (TETRA; n=5) subjects in response to HUT. The SCI patients in both groups were in their first two months post injury. Data were recorded at rest and during 7 min each at 20°, 40°, 60° and 80° HUT. Techniques used to estimate regulatory capability and reflex activity included: Mean values and spectral power of heart rate (HR) and arterial blood pressure (BP), baroreflex sequence measurements and cross correlation between HR and systolic blood pressure (SBP). An index of baroreflex sensitivity (BRS), baroreflex effectiveness index (BEI), and the percentage occurrence of systolic blood pressure (BP) ramps and baroreflex sequences were calculated from baroreflex sequence measurements. The spectral power of HR and BP, the cross correlation of systolic BP and heart rate (HR) were examined in low frequency (LF: 0.04-0.15 Hz) and high frequency (HF: 0.15-0.4 Hz) ranges. The BRS index was significantly (p < 0.05) decreased from supine to 80° HUT in AB and TETRA. This index in PARA was the lowest at each tilt position in the three groups, and decreased with tilt. The percentage of heart beats involved in systolic BP ramps and in baroreflex sequences significantly (p<0.05) rose from supine to 80° HUT in AB, was relatively unchanged in PARA and declined in TETRA. Both of these indexes were significantly (p<0.05) lower

in the SCI than in the AB group at each tilt level. The BEI values were greatest in AB, and declined with tilt in all groups. Spinal cord injured patients had less power of BP and HR fluctuations than AB in both LF and HF regions. The LF spectral power of BP and HR increased with tilt in AB, remained unchanged in PARA and decreased in TETRA. The HF spectral power of HR decreased in all three groups. The peak HR / BP cross correlation in the LF region was greatest in AB, and significantly (p<0.05) increased during HUT in AB, remained fairly constant in PARA, and declined in TETRA. The peak cross correlation in the HF region significantly (p<0.05) decreased with tilt in all groups, and the SCI group had lower values than AB at each tilt level. We conclude that both PARA and TETRA had a smaller percentage of SBP ramps, BRS, and lower BEI than AB, likely indicating decreased stimulation of arterial baroreceptors, and less engagement of feedback control. The mixed sympathetic, parasympathetic innervations of paraplegics, or their elevated HR, may contribute to their significantly lower BRS. Our data indicate that the pathways utilized to evoke baroreflex regulation of HR are compromised by SCI and this loss may be a major contributor to the decrease in orthostatic tolerance following injury.

Key Words: orthostatic hypotension, baroreflex sensitivity, baroreflex effectiveness index, cross correlation, feed-back, open loop regulation

Sevda Coban Aslan

April 20th, 2006

NEURAL CONTROL OF CARDIOVASCULAR FUNCTION FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY IN HUMAN

By

Sevda Coban Aslan

Dr. Abhijit Patwardhan Director of Dissertation

Dr. Abhijit Patwardhan Director of Graduate Studies

April 20th, 2006

RULES FOR THE USE OF DISSERTATIONS

Unpublished dissertations submitted for the Doctor's degree and deposited in the University of Kentucky Library are as a rule open for inspection, but are to be used only with due regard to the rights of the authors. Bibliographical references may be noted, but the quotations or summaries of parts may be published only with the permission of the author, and with the usual scholarly acknowledgments.

Extensive copying or publication of the dissertation in whole or in part also requires the consent of the Dean of the Graduate School of the University of Kentucky.

A library that borrows this dissertation for use by its patrons is expected to secure the signature of each user.

DISSERTATION

Sevda Coban Aslan

The Graduate School

University of Kentucky

2006

NEURAL CONTROL OF CARDIOVASCULAR FUNCTION FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY IN HUMAN

DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Graduate School at the University of Kentucky

> By Sevda Coban Aslan

Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. Abhijit Patwardhan, Associate Professor of Biomedical Engineering

Lexington, Kentucky

2006

Copyright © Sevda Coban Aslan 2006

I would like to dedicate this work to my dad, Kazim Coban, my mom, Sevim Coban, and my husband, Mustafa M. Aslan.

Acknowledgements

I want to express my great gratitude to Joyce M. Evans for her guidance and encouragement toward finishing the thesis. She provided intuition and direction at every stage of thesis process. I also want to give her recognition for being a great person whom I was really lucky to work with. I would like to thank to my Thesis Advisory Committee Members; Dr. David C. Randall, Dr. Kevin D. Donohue, Dr. Charles F. Knapp, Dr. Abhijit R. Patwardhan, and Dr. Sean D. Stocker. Each individual provided insights that guided and challenged my thinking, significantly improving the completing of this study. I especially thank Dr. Charles F. Knapp for giving me the opportunity to work in the Center for Biomedical Engineering Department. Thanks to Dr. David Randall for his perfection of writing skill.

I would like to thank to my husband, Mustafa M. Aslan, my sons, Burak, Sinan Z. and Tanner K. Aslan, for their understanding and support during my study. When I had to work at weekends, it wasn't unusual for me to have several phone calls from my kids, asking the same question over and over again, "When are you done, mom"? They are certainly the continuous joy of my life.

This study would not have been done, if we did not have any spinal cord injured volunteers. I would like to thank each of them for enrolling in our study during a most difficult and challenging time in their life.

I want to thank members of Cardiovascular Control Lab., and Cardinal Hill Rehabilitation Hospital who participated in our study. I also would like to thank the whole staff of Wenner Gren Research Lab. It has been a privilege to work with you.

Finally, I would like to thank to my mom, Sevim Coban, and my dad, Kazim Coban, for raising me in such a way that I could reach this point. Special thanks to my sister, Selma Ozzeybek, and my brother, Huseyin Coban, for their support, and my nephews, Erdem, Berkay and Alperen, and my nieces, Kubra and Yaren, I love you all.

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements	iii
List of Figures	vi
List of Tables	xi
Chapter 1 : Introduction	1
Objective	4
Chapter 2 : Physiological Background	5
Human Nervous System	5
The Anatomy and Physiology of the Spinal Cord	7
The Physiology of Cardiovascular Regulation	8
Neural Control of Heart	9
Neural Control of Vasculature	11
Spinal Cord Injury	12
Alteration of Cardiovascular Control Following Spinal Cord Injury:	14
Orthostatic hypotension	14
Chapter 3 : Methods	16
Subjects	16
Testing Schedules	17
Tilt Protocol	18
Data Acquisition:	20
Chapter 4 : Results	28
Mean Values	30
Spectral Power Analysis	36
The Cross Correlation Technique	59
The Baroreflex Sequence Technique	68
Chapter 5 : Discussion	72
Mean Values	73
Spectral Power	74
Cross Correlation	77
Baroreflex Sequences	79
Indexes to assess cardiovascular damage following SCI	82
Limitations of the study	82

Chapter 6 : Conclusions	83
Chapter 7 : Future Work	84
Chapter 8 : Appendices	85
Appendix A:	85
Appendix B:	86
Appendix C:	90
References	93
VITA	
0	10
v	

List of Figures

Figure 3.1 Standard tilt protocol included 10 minute supine control, 7-10 minute 20, 40 60 and 80 deg head
up tilt, return to 1 minute 20 deg HUT and supine recovery positions27
Figure 4.1: Time series plots of cardiovascular variables for an able-bodied (left) and a spinal cord injured
subject (right, C4 ASIA B) undergoing increasing levels of head-up tilt 29
Figure 4.2: Average (±SEM) arterial blood pressure for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and
tetraplegic (n=5) subjects30
Figure 4.3: Average (±SEM) heart rate for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5)
subjects31
Figure 4.4: Average (\pm SEM) stroke volume for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5)
subjects32
Figure 4.5: Average (\pm SEM) upper body skin perfusion for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and
tetraplegic (n=5) subjects33
Figure 4.6: Average (\pm SEM) lower body skin perfusion for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and
tetraplegic (n=5) subjects34
Figure 4.7: Calf Circumference and tilt protocol for one able-bodied subject illustrating the calculation of
the rate of vascular fluid shift35
Figure 4.8. Average (+SFM) the rate of vascular fluid shifts to the leg for able-bodied (n=11) paraplegic
(n=5) and tetranlegic $(n=5)$ subjects 36
Figure 4.9: Heart rate spectral power of one able-bodied (on the left) and one SCI (on the right C3_ASIA
B) subject, each undergoing increasing levels of head-up tilt.
_/ sucjet, ener mategeng methods () en en en er r
Figure 4.10: Mean spectral power of arterial blood pressure for the able-bodied group (11 studies from 11
individuals) at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), and supine recovery38
Figure 4.11: Mean spectral power of arterial blood pressure for the paraplegic group (10 studies, 5
individuals) undergoing five levels of head-up-tilt (HUT)39

Figure 4.12: Mean spectral power of arterial blood pressure for the tetraplegic group (8 studies from 5 individuals at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg HUT, supine recovery, 5 studies from 3 individuals at 80 deg HUT).

Figure 4.13: Main Figure: Mean spectral power of HR in the 0-0.4 Hz frequency range; Panel a: Mean spectral power of HR expanded to show detail in the 0.15-0.4 Hz frequency range; Panel b: Mean spectral power of respiration (panel b) for AB group (11 individuals, 11 studies) undergoing five levels of head-up-tilt (HUT). ______41

Figure 4.14; Main Figure: Mean spectral power of heart rate in the 0-0.4 Hz frequency range; Panel a: Mean spectral power of respiration for the paraplegic group (10 studies, 5 individuals) at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery. ______ 42

Figure 4.15: Mean spectral power of heart rate (main figure) and respiration (small window) for the tetraplegic group (8 studies from 5 individuals at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery, 5 studies from 3 individuals at 80 deg HUT). ______43

Figure 4.16: Mean spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range for the AB group (11 studies from 11 individuals) at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), and supine recovery.

Figure 4.17: Mean spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range for the paraplegic group (10 studies, 5 individuals) undergoing five levels of head-up-tilt (HUT). _____45

Figure 4.18: Mean spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range for the tetraplegic group (8 studies from 5 individuals at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg HUT, supine recovery, 5 studies from 3 individuals at 80 deg HUT). ______46

Figure 4.19: Mean spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range for the AB group (10 studies from 10 individuals) at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), and supine recovery.______47

Figure 4.20: Mean spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the 0-0.12 Hz frequency range for the paraplegic group (10 studies, 5 individuals) undergoing five levels of head-up-tilt (HUT). _____48

Figure 4.21: Mean spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range for the tetraplegic group (8 studies from 5 individuals at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg HUT, supine recovery, 5 studies from 3 individuals at 80 deg HUT). ______49

Figure 4.22: Average (±SEM) spectral power of blood pressure in the LF region for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT) and supine recovery. ______50

Figure 4.23: Average (±SEM) spectral power of heart rate in the LF region for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic ((n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery. subjects. ______51

Figure 4.24: Average (±SEM) spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the LF region for able-bodied (n=10), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=4, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery. ______52

Figure 4.25: Average (±SEM) spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the LF region for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=4, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery. ______53

Figure 4.26: Average (±SEM) spectral power of heart rate in the HF (0.15-0.4 Hz) region for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery. _____54

Figure 4.27: Average (\pm SEM) spectral power of Δ Z/dt respiration for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic ((n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery. ______55

Figure 4.28: Average (±SEM) heart rate SNS index for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic ((n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt, supine recovery.______57

Figure 4.29: Average (±SEM) PNS index of heart rate for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt, supine recovery.______58

Figure 4.30: Fifty seconds of systolic blood pressure (a), and heart rate (b) of one able-bodied subject at 80° head up tilt. The cross correlation between these two variables is shown in (c) and the correlogram between the two signals is shown in (d). _____60

Figure 4.31: Correlogram between HR and SBP in the HF (0.15-0.45 Hz) region, with tilt angle superimposed, plotted as a function of time for an able-bodied (a) and a tetraplegic patient b, C3 ASIA B)

61

Figure 4.32: Group averaged low frequency (0.04-0.15 Hz) cross correlation between SBP and HR for able bodied (top, n=11), paraplegic (middle, n=5) and tetraplegic (bottom, n=5) subjects at rest (left column), in response to tilt (columns 2-5), and recovery from tilt. _____62

Figure 4.33: High frequency (0.15-0.45 Hz) cross correlation between SBP and HR for able bodied (top, n=11), paraplegic (middle, n=5) and tetraplegic (bottom, n=5) subjects at rest (left column), in response to tilt (columns 2-5), and recovery from tilt. _____63

Figure 4.34: Group averaged magnitude of the LF (0.04-0.15Hz) negative peak of the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate (a), and group averaged magnitude vs. corresponding time lag of cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate where systolic blood pressure leads heart rate (b) at rest and in response to tilt for able-bodied subjects (n=11), paraplegics (n=5) and tetraplegics (n=5). 64

Figure 4.35: Group averaged magnitude of the HF (0.15-0.4Hz) negative peak of the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate (a), and group averaged magnitude vs. corresponding time lag of cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate where systolic blood pressure leads heart rate (b) at rest and in response to tilt for able-bodied subjects (n=11), paraplegics (n=5) and tetraplegics (n=5). ______65

Figure 4.36: Group averaged magnitude (left) and time lag (right) of the LF (0.04-0.15Hz) positive peak of the cross correlation between SBP and HR at rest and in response to tilt is shown on the left (a) for ablebodied subjects (n=11), paraplegics (n=5) and tetraplegics (n=5)._____66

Figure 4.37: Group averaged magnitude (left) and time lag (right) of the HF (0.15-0.45 Hz) positive peak of the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate at rest and in response to tilt is shown on the left for able-bodied subjects (n=11), paraplegics (n=5) and tetraplegics (n=5). _____67

Figure 4.38: Averaged (±SEM) baroreflex sensitivity index for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) in response to head up tilt. _____68

Figure 4.39: Averaged (±SEM) percentage of heartbeats involved in SBP for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects in response to head up tilt. _____69

Figure 4.40: Averaged (\pm SEM) percentage of heartbeats involved in baroreflex sequences for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects in response to head up tilt. _____70

Figure 4.41: Averaged (±SEM) baroreflex effectiveness index for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects in response to head up tilt. ______71

Figure 8.1: Mean (±SEM) spectral power of blood pressure in response to head-up-tilt in three groups. First column is supine control, the next four columns are 20, 40, 60, and 80 deg HUT, and the last column is supine recovery. ______86

Figure 8.2: Mean (±SEM) spectral power of heart rate in response to head-up-tilt in three groups. First column is supine control, the next four columns are 20, 40, 60, and 80 deg HUT, and the last column is supine recovery.______87

Figure 8.3: Mean (±SEM) spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in response to head-up-tilt in three groups. First column is supine control, the next four columns are 20, 40, 60, and 80 deg HUT, and the last column is supine recovery.______88

Figure 8.4: Mean (±SEM) spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in response to head-up-tilt in three groups. First column is supine control, the next four columns are 20, 40, 60, and 80 deg HUT, and the last column is supine recovery._____89

List of Tables

Table 3.1 Demographic information from the SCI patients.	
Table 3.2: The list of acquired variables with calibration values in voltage and in engineering units.	27

Chapter 1 : Introduction

Spinal cord injuries (SCI) occur approximately 12,000 times per year in North America; most SCI involve the cervical spine region. Patients who sustain cervical spine injuries have lasting, often devastating, neurological deficits and disabilities. Although the most visible effects of SCI are a loss of motor and sensory function below the lesion, acute SCI, especially those occurring in the cervical region, are often associated with hemodynamic instability. Cardiovascular problems known to arise from sympathetic nervous system dysfunction include low resting arterial blood pressure, orthostatic hypotension, autonomic dysreflexia, reflex bradycardia and cardiac arrest (2,7,11,47,77,78). These cardiovascular related conditions severely limit a patient's participation in rehabilitation, thus extending hospital stay, increasing the cost of rehabilitation, and possibly limiting the effectiveness of other treatment. Orthostatic hypotension is a common problem particularly in the acute phase of recovery (43,54,77)Traditional treatment consists of a series of cardiovascular challenges over several weeks using tilt or similar orthostatic stress, until the patient can reasonably tolerate an upright posture. However the physiological mechanisms leading to cardiovascular adjustments following SCI are not clearly understood. In addition, there are very limited assessments for clinicians to measure the patient's cardiovascular deficit and recovery following SCI. Consequently, cardiovascular recovery occurs with varying degrees of efficiency in individuals with SCI. Since most of the recovery following SCI occurs within the first six months of injury (17), and active rehabilitation within the first two weeks is critically important in reducing long term morbidity (43,59), recovering the ability to maintain stable arterial blood pressure (BP) during therapy and its accompanying orthostatic challenges is essential for individuals with SCI.

Short-term stability of arterial BP is achieved in large part by appropriate adjustments in sympathetic and parasympathetic outflow from the central nervous system to cardiovascular effector mechanisms (8,62,67,69) It is generally assumed that fluctuations in cardiovascular parameters originate from interactions between sympathetic and parasympathetic neural branches and other low frequency sources (40,73,76). Spontaneous oscillations of heart rate (HR) and BP can be analyzed by extracting frequency-related information from their measurements. In particular, two rhythms are generally observed in short term heart rate recordings: a respiratory or high frequency (HF) rhythm (peak around 0.2 - 0.3 Hz in humans), is considered a marker of vagal activity, and a low frequency (LF) rhythm (peak around 0.1 Hz in human), a marker of sympathetic activity or combined vagal and sympathetic influence. During a sympathetic challenge, such as HUT, increases in the LF/HF ratio are expected in ablebodied persons due to shifts in autonomic modulation toward augmented sympathetic, and attenuated vagal, activity (61).

Both LF and HF components of HR are influenced by the gain of the baroreflex (23,56,75). The baroreflex provides powerful beat-to-beat negative feedback regulation that minimizes the short-term fluctuations in arterial pressure (51). Although there has been a long standing interest in assessing baroreflex characteristics, and the importance of determining baroreflex sensitivity (BRS) is widely recognized, there is no "gold standard" among techniques for spontaneous baroreflex assessment (67). One of the most frequently employed approaches is the sequence technique. Sequences of three or more consecutive heart beats in which monotonic increases (or decreases) of systolic blood pressure (SBP) are followed, usually after a delay of one beat, by monotonic lengthening (or shortening) of the RR interval, are accepted as baroreflex sequences (10). Recently, a baroreflex effectiveness index has been defined as the ratio between the total number of baroreflex sequences and the total number of systolic blood pressure ramps in a given time window (24). The BEI quantifies the number of times that the baroreflex is effective in driving the sinus node, and provides information on baroreflex function that is complementary to BRS (24). In normal subjects, the arterial baroreflex induces beat-bybeat RR interval changes in response to only 21% of all SBP ramps (24).

Besides BRS, there is an increasing interest in the occurrence of baroreflex sequences (12,14,24,36,38,53). To find an absolute value, the occurrence number can be normalized by time (24,53), by mean heart rate (14), by the number of validated sequences (36), and by the number of heart beats (12,36). Since the number of baroreflex sequences depends on the number of analyzed heartbeats, and the number of heartbeats varies among subjects and within a subject according to activity, normalization by time

would yield unreliable results. In addition, each baroreflex sequence can have various numbers of involved heartbeats, usually ranging from 3 to 6, but would still be counted as one-baroreflex sequence. Therefore using only the number of baroreflex sequences would lead to inaccuracy in the absolute value of the occurrence of baroreflex sequences. Consequently, normalization of the heart beats involved in baroreflex sequences by the total number of heart beats in a data segment yields more realistic information. Moreover, since occurrence of SBP ramps constitutes the input to the baroreceptors, the numbers of heartbeats involved in SBP ramps are reported in this paper as percentage of the total analyzed SBP.

Assessing vagal and sympathetic contributions to baroreflex actions includes decomposition of blood pressure and heart rate variabilities into LF and HF periodic components (6,18,72). Cross correlation of these LF and HF periodic components provides both magnitude and time lag (between the blood pressure and heart rate variability) information to quantitatively characterize vagal and sympathetic influences on autonomic regulation.

Cardiovascular function in spinal cord injured patients during their acute phase of recovery has not been addressed yet. In the literature, cardiovascular function following SCI had been focused on the patients' chronic phase of injury in which some degree of adaptation has taken. The effects of spinal cord injury on cardiovascular neural control might be more accurately identified during the acute phase rather than the chronic phase.

Objective

This study investigates short-term cardiac baroreflex regulation in able-bodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects within the first two months following injury. The stimulus we employed was head up tilt (HUT). The objective was to examine cardiac indexes for their suitability as early indicators of autonomic damage. We compared results from able-bodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects using four methods: a) mean values, b) spectral power estimation of blood pressure, heart rate, upper and lower body skin perfusions in low frequency (LF, 0.04-0.15Hz) and high frequency (HF, 0.15-0.4 Hz) regions, c) the baroreflex sequence technique and, d) the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate examined in LF and HF regions for their potential to supply indexes to assess cardiovascular deficits following SCI. Our clinical aim is to find non-invasive indexes to be used in the clinical setting to assess damage and recovery of cardiovascular control in SCI patients

Chapter 2 : Physiological Background

Human Nervous System

The nervous system is a communications network that allows an organism to interact in appropriate ways with the environment. This system has sensory components that detect environmental events, integrative components that process sensory data and information that is stored in memory, and *motor components* that generate movements and other activity (9). The nervous system can be divided into the *central nervous system* (CNS), composed of the brain and spinal cord, and the peripheral nervous system, consists of sensory and motor components, which interface between the CNS and the environment. Nerve fibers in the peripheral nervous system transmit signals between the CNS and receptors and effectors in all other parts of the body. The peripheral nervous system consists of 43 pairs of nerves: 12 pairs of cranial nerves and 31 pairs that connect with the spinal cord as the spinal nerves. All the spinal nerves contain both afferent and efferent fibers, whereas some of the cranial nerves contain only afferent fibers. Afferent neurons convey information from peripheral sensory receptors to the CNS. Efferent neurons carry signals from the CNS to muscles, blood vessels and glands. The efferent division of the peripheral nervous system is divided into somatic nervous system and autonomic nervous system (79). The somatic portion of the efferent division of the peripheral nervous system is made up of all the nerve fibers going from the CNS to skeletal muscle fibers. The efferent innervation of all tissues other than skeletal muscle is by way of the autonomic nervous system (ANS). A special case occurs in the gastrointestinal tract, where autonomic neurons innervate a nerve network in the wall of the intestinal tract, which is called the *enteric nervous system*.

Anatomical and physiological differences within the ANS provide the basis for its further subdivision into *sympathetic* and *parasympathetic* nervous systems (79). The nerve fibers of the sympathetic and parasympathetic components leave the CNS at different levels – the sympathetic fibers from the thoracic and lumbar regions of the spinal cord, and the parasympathetic fibers from the brain and the sacral portion of the spinal cord. Both of these components consist of myelinated preganglionic fibers, which

make synaptic connections with unmyelinated postganglionic fibers, and it is the latter that innervate the effector organs. Most sympathetic preganglionic fibers are very short, synapsing with cell bodies of postganglionic neurons within ganglia that lie in a sympathetic ganglion chain located along either side of the spinal cord (74). Long postganglionic fibers originating in the ganglion terminate on the effector organ. Parasympathetic preganglionic fibers are long in comparison to sympathetic preganglionic fibers because they do not end until they reach terminal ganglia. Very short postganglionic fibers terminate on the cells of an organ itself (74). Most organs are innervated by fibers from both divisions of the ANS and the influence is usually opposing. In both sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous systems, acetylcholine is the major neurotransmitter released between pre- and post-ganglionic fibers in autonomic ganglia. In the parasympathetic system, acetylcholine is also the major neurotransmitter between the postganglionic fiber and the effector cell. In the sympathetic system, norepinephrine is usually the major transmitter between the postganglionic fiber and effector cell. Acetylcholine is also released by some sympathetic postganglionic endings; however, these play a relatively small role (9). As an exception, the sympathetic postganglionic neurons of the adrenal medulla never develop axons; instead they release their transmitters into blood steam upon activation by pre-ganglionic axons (79). The adrenal medulla, under sympathetic control, secretes a mixture of about 80% epinephrine and 20% norepinephrine (plus a small amount of other substances) into the blood. These hormones are transported in the blood stream to the effector cell.

The Anatomy and Physiology of the Spinal Cord

The spinal cord is a large collection of nerve tissue that extends from the base of the brain to the lower back. Messages between the brain and the nerve roots travel up and down the spinal cord, making it possible for brain and body to communicate. The spinal cord lies within the bony vertebral column. The central butterfly-shaped area of gray matter is composed of interneurons, the cell bodies and dendrites of efferent neurons, the entering fibers of afferent neurons, and glial cells (79). The gray matter is surrounded by white matter, which consists of groups of myelinated axons of interneurons. Groups of afferent fibers that enter the spinal cord from peripheral nerves enter the dorsal side of the cord via the *dorsal roots*. The axons of efferent neurons leave the spinal cord on the ventral side via the ventral roots. A short distance from the cord, the dorsal and the ventral roots from the same level combine to form a *spinal nerve*; one on each side of the spinal cord. The 31 pairs of spinal nerves are designated by the four vertebral levels: cervical, thoracic, lumbar, and sacral. In general, the eight cervical nerves (C) control the muscles and glands and receive sensory input from the neck, shoulder, arm, and hand. The 12 thoracic nerves (T) are associated with the chest and abdominal walls. The 5 lumbar nerves (L) are associated with the hip and leg, and 5 sacral nerves (S) are associated with the genitals and lower digestive tract (79,9).

The Physiology of Cardiovascular Regulation

Autonomic regulation of the cardiovascular system depends on a complex array of reflex circuits, interacting dynamically both at central and peripheral levels, and operating with negative and positive feedback (57). The central nervous system controls cardiovascular functions via the sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous systems. Changing arterial blood pressure is sensed by baroreceptors nerve endings located in carotid sinuses and the aortic arch. Baroreceptor activity is transmitted to the brainstem where signals are integrated and relayed through a network of central nervous that determine parasympathetic, and sympathetic nerve activity to effector organs including the heart, vasculature, and kidney. Changes in baroreceptor activity trigger reflex adjustments that buffer or oppose changes in blood pressure. A rise in blood pressure increases baroreflex activity leading to reflex inhibition of sympathetic nervous activity, activation of parasympathetic outflow, and subsequent decreases in vascular resistance and heart rate. Conversely, a fall in blood pressure decreases baroreceptor activity eliciting a reflex increase in sympathetic, inhibition of parasympathetic, and increases in vascular resistance and heart rate. In addition circulatory levels of norepinephrine, epinephrine, renin and vasopressin are modulated by the baroreflex (26). During a sustained increase in blood pressure, baroreceptor activity initially increases but declines (adapts) over time as the elevated pressure is maintained (23,19). Furthermore baroreflex activities are inhibited, the pressure threshold is increased, and the blood pressure activity function curve resets to higher levels of blood pressure after a period of acute hypertension (3).

Neural Control of Heart

While the heart inherently beats on its own, cardiac function can be influenced profoundly by neural inputs from the autonomic nervous system (ANS). The heart receives extrinsic nerve efferent (sympathetic and parasympathetic nervous systems) and afferent innervation, as well as own intrinsic (intracardiac) nerve supply (78). Intrinsic regulation is referred to as local or autoregulation and requires no external input from either the nervous or endocrine systems: Increasing the stretch of the myocardium by increasing end diastolic pressure causes a corresponding increase in ventricular pressure generated in the subsequent ventricular contraction (Frank-Starling mechanism). The extrinsic innervation, traveling in the cardiac branches of the parasympathetic and sympathetic trunks, enters the base of the heart to form a complex interconnecting network of mixed nerves called *the cardiac plexus* (78).

Efferent sympathetic nerve fibers, which are primarily noradrenergic, originate from the cell bodies of the paravertebral chain. These come from the superior, middle, and inferior cervical ganglia of the sympathetic trunk, together with the upper five ganglia of the thoracic segment trunk, chiefly the stellate ganglia and middle cervical ganglia (78,55). The number and location of sympathetic neurones in these extrinsic ganglia exhibit significant variations within mammalian species (4). Efferent PNS nerve fibers reach the cardiac plexus through the large vagal nerves, which carry preganglionic fibers from their cell bodies in the medulla oblongata. The mixed nerves of the cardiac plexus contain preganglionic and postganglionic parasympathetic and postganglionic sympathetic efferent fibers, as well as afferent fibers from cardiopulmonary receptors (9).

The sympathetic fibers richly innervate the ventricular muscles, the atria, and sinoatrial (SA) and atrioventricular (AV) nodes: The SA and AV nodes are controlled chiefly by fibers from the right paravertebral ganglia while the force of ventricular contraction is controlled chiefly by fibers from the left paravertebral ganglia (55). Unlike the sympathetic fibers, long preganglionic parasympathetic fibers synapse with the postganglionic parasympathetic neurons within the myocardium itself, mostly in the SA and AV nodes: Short postganglionic fibers innervate the nodes; there is only sparse parasympathetic innervation of the ventricles (46).

The sympathetic fibers release the neurotransmitter norepinephrine, which binds to β_1 -adrenoceptors on the cardiac cell membrane. The heart also possesses α - and β_2 adrenoceptors, but β_1 -receptors predominate (60). The hormone epinephrine secreted by the medulla of the adrenal gland controlled by sympathetic preganglionic fibers, acts similarly. Since the terminating action of norepinephrine requires diffusion into the blood stream and reuptake into the sympathetic nervous system, recovery from the sympathetic stimulation is slow. Firing of the parasympathetic postganglionic fibers releases the neurotransmitter acetylcholine from the nerve ending. Acetylcholine acts by binding to muscarinic receptors on the myocyte membrane, and is quickly removed by the enzyme cholinesterase, which is found throughout heart tissues. Consequently, once the parasympathetic stimulation ceases, the effects of the stimulation decay quickly (60).

The rhythm of the heart is normally determined by the firing of the SA node, located in the posterior wall of the right atrium near the superior vena cava. This intrinsic rhythm, 100 beats per minute in human, is strongly influenced by the ANS, with the parasympathetic being dominant over sympathetic influences at rest. Changes in heart rate usually involve a reciprocal action of the two branches of the ANS: Increase in heart rate is achieved by a waning of parasympathetic and concomitant increase in sympathetic nervous system. The sympathetic effects on the heart can be summarized as below:

- An increase in heart rate (positive chronotropic effects)
- A decrease in cardiac action potential duration
- An increase in rate of action potential conduction (positive dromotropic effect)
- An increase in cardiac contractility (positive inotropic effect)
- An increase in rate of cardiac relaxation

Parasympathetic effects are opposite. Parasympathetic effects on inotropy are weak in the ventricle, but relatively strong in the atria. Physiologically, whenever the body activates the sympathetic system, it down regulates parasympathetic activity, and visa versa, so that the activities of these two branches of the autonomic nervous system respond reciprocally.

Neural Control of Vasculature

The blood vessels are made up of high-pressure arterial and low-pressure venous networks. The arterial system is composed of a complex series of arteries, arterioles and capillaries, and the venous system is composed of venules and veins. The arterial network is responsibly for distributing nutrients and oxygen to the organs and the systems of the body. The venous side carries blood back to the heart. Because the arteries have large radii, and an elastic wall, they serve as low resistance tubes, and act as a pressure reservoir for maintaining blood flow through diastole. The small arteries and arterioles that regulate blood flow throughout the body are called the resistance vessels. Vascular smooth muscle, which constitutes a major fraction of the wall of the arterioles, controls total peripheral resistance, arterial and venous tone. Intrinsic and extrinsic mechanisms are responsible for regulating vascular tone. Intrinsic regulation is the regulation of tone by local factors sited entirely within an organ or tissue. Extrinsic regulation originates outside the organ. The CNS superimposes a control system over the entire peripheral vasculature by means of the ANS and endocrine secretions (55). Neural control of blood flow is accomplished mainly by the sympathetic nervous system. Sympathetic nerves to the blood vessels are tonically active; inhibition of the vasoconstrictor center in the medulla reduces peripheral vascular resistance. Stimulation of the sympathetic nervous system increases peripheral resistance (9,55,60). Descending excitatory and inhibitory fibers, the bulbospinal fibers, pass down the spinal cord and synapse with preganglionic neurons in the thoracicolumbar segments T1 to L3. Blood vessels do not receive innervation from the parasympathetic nervous system (55,60).

Spinal Cord Injury

Spinal cord injury (SCI) affects approximately 12,000 people in North America each year (38). It is a serious medical and socioeconomic problem associated with devastating functional and psychological effects 17. Of these, 53% are diagnosed with tetraplegia and 46% with paraplegia. The most frequent neurologic category is incomplete tetraplegia (30%), followed by complete paraplegia (26%), incomplete paraplegia (20%), and complete tetraplegia (23%) (38). Tetraplegia refers to damage or loss of motor and/or sensory function in the cervical segment of the spinal cord, and results in impairment of function in the arms, as well as in the trunk, legs and pelvic organs. Paraplegia refers to impairment or loss of motor and/or sensory function in thoracic, lumbar or sacral segments of the spinal cord. Depending on the level of injury, the trunk, legs and pelvic organs may be impaired. Complete injury is the term used when there is an absence of sensory and motor function in the lowest sacral segment, whereas incomplete injury is used when partial preservation of sensory and/or motor functions is found below the neurological level and includes the sacral segment. Most frequently SCI accidents occur in persons between 16 and 30 years of age (9). Frequent causes are automobile and motorcycle accidents and gunshot wounds. A lesion below the phrenic motor nucleus may result in paralysis of all four extremities, tetraplegia (quadriplegia), whereas a lesion of the thoracic spinal cord causes paraplegia, which is paralysis of the lower extremities. The average life time cost of treating an individual with SCI is in the range of \$500,000 -2 million, dependant upon factors such as the extent and location of the injury (17).

Lesion of the Dorsal (Posterior) and Ventral (Anterior) Roots: Depending on the extent of injury to a dorsal root, various symptoms are present. Cutaneous afferents in the dorsal root are destined to innervate a specific strip of skin (dermatome). Therefore a lesion at this site produces symptoms that are localized in a dermatomal distribution rather than a peripheral nerve distribution. Because dermatomes overlap each other, sectioning one dorsal root produces different symptoms (i.e. hypesthesia or paresthesia) than sectioning many dorsal roots (i.e. anesthesia). Some injuries may not be as severe, and lesion may cause pressure or irritation to the root. Pressure may produce paresthesia and hypesthesia in a dermatomal pattern whereas irritation and subsequent inflammation may result in radicular (root) pain located in a dermatomal area (82).

Two types of motor neurons are referred to clinically. One type is called lower motor neurons. The cell bodies of lower motor neurons reside in lamina IX of the cord's ventral horn. Their axons leave the cord in the ventral root, enter a spinal nerve, and continue in peripheral nerves to skeletal muscles. In general lower motor neurons can be defined as the only neurons that innervate skeletal muscle and are thus the final common pathway to the muscle. These neurons are found in spinal nerves originating from spinal cord and also in those cranial nerves emerging from the brain stem that innervate skeletal muscles located in the head region. Lesions of lower motor neurons produce various signs and symptoms based on the lower motor neurons being responsible for the contraction of muscle. Because of its developmental origin, a skeletal muscle becomes innervated by more than one cord segment, and one cord segment can innervate more than one muscle. If a lower motor neuron lesion involves the nerve fibers innervating the muscle being tested, the reflex response of that particular muscle nonexistent (areflexic) or diminished depending on how much of the muscle's innervation is affected. The other type of motor neuron is the upper motor neuron, which are clinically referred to as neurons that influence lower motor neurons. Since upper motor neurons are descending tract, unlike lower motor neurons, upper motor neurons located in the cerebral cortex, internal capsule, brain stem and white matter of the spinal cord. Lesion of the spinal cord probably interrupts a number of descending upper motor neurons and produce characteristic signs that are evident after the acute effects are gone. Lower motor neuron lesions may be restricted to individual motor muscle groups, whereas upper motor neuron lesion may affect the entire limb.

Alteration of Cardiovascular Control Following Spinal Cord Injury:

Besides loss of muscle control and sensation below the lesion, the injury also seriously compromises autonomic regulation of arterial blood pressure (e.g.16,15). The loss of autonomic control of cardiac and vascular regulatory mechanisms is dependent on the severity and level of injury to the spinal cord. Cardiovascular problems known to arise from SNS dysfunction include low resting blood pressure, orthostatic hypotension, autonomic dysreflexia, reflex bradycardia and cardiac arrest (e.g. 20,16,11,77). Treatment to achieve a mean arterial blood pressure of 85 mmHg for a minimum of seven days has been reported to result in better neurological outcomes (7). Rehabilitation is also critical to prevent long term immobilization. It has been reported that patients who spent less than 14 days in bed rest maintained systolic and diastolic blood pressure in response to head up tilt better than did those had more than 14 days bed rest (43). Therefore, cardiovascular related problems could be involved not only in life threatening complications, but also in delayed rehabilitation and poor quality of life (20,16,43).

Orthostatic hypotension

Orthostatic hypotension refers to a reduction in systolic blood pressure by at least 20 mmHg or diastolic blood pressure by 10 mmHg within 3 min of standing or being raised to greater than 60° HUT. Symptoms of orthostatic hypotension include light-headedness, dizziness, unclear vision, ringing in the ears, nausea, fatigue, and cognitive impairment, palpitations, tremulousness, headache and neck ache (American Autonomic Society, 1996). Orthostatic hypotension is a common problem in both acute and chronic phases of injury, as the injury to the spinal cord interferes with normal transmission of sympathetic activity, a critical agent in short-term regulation of blood pressure (20,43). Conservative treatment includes the use of abdominal binders and support hose to prevent venous pooling and increased dietary salt and fluid intake to increase blood pressure. Patients are challenged with a series of head-up tilts, which become progressively greater with time; treatment continues until the patient can reasonably tolerate an upright posture, which may require weeks or months of intensive intervention.

Assessments of Cardiovascular Impairment Following Spinal Cord Injury:

Consistent and reproducible assessment scales are necessary to define acutely injured patient deficit(s) and to facilitate communication with caregivers regarding the patient's status (38). A variety of assessment systems is available for documenting neurological and functional status of patients after SCI. Among them, The American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) scale for neurological status, and The Functional Independence Measure (FIM) for functional outcome, are the most common scales. The American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) classification of SCI is assessed via sensitivity of the 28 dermatomes tested by pin prick and light touch, and of 10 myotomes graded by strength from 0 to 5. Dermatome refers to the area of the skin innervated by the sensory axons within each segmental nerve. Myotome refers to the collection of muscle fibers innervated by the motor axons within each segmental nerve. The final decision on the level of injury depends on the total number from each test. The Functional Independence Measure (FIM) measures independence of functioning such as self-care, sphincter control, mobility, locomotion, communication and social cognition.

Besides deficits of motor and sensory function following SCI, cardiovascular problems arising from sympathetic nervous system dysfunction are also common in acute SCI. Despite these problems, there is no assessment test available to identify patient's cardiovascular deficits following SCI. The importance of assessing autonomic deficits following SCI have been addressed in recent papers (e.g. 20,28,32). In this study, we attempt to discriminate an able-bodied group from SCI, and a paraplegic group from a tetraplegic group using cardiovascular variables in response to tilt.

Chapter 3 : Methods

Subjects

Eleven healthy, drug-free, able-bodied (AB) volunteers (age: 25±4, 8 men and 3 women) were recruited as a control group. Five paraplegic volunteers (PARA, age: 34±15, 4 men and 1 woman with lesions between T6-T11), and five tetraplegic volunteers (TETRA, age: 26±9, 5 men with lesions between C3-T5) were recruited from patients admitted to Cardinal Hill Rehabilitation Hospital (CHRH). Complete anthropomorphic data for all SCI subjects are given in Table 3.1. None of the participants had previous cardiovascular- related diseases and only a few of the able-bodied subjects took medication likely to affect the cardiovascular system. Some SCI patients were on blood pressure medication and some were on medication to treat muscle spasms. The list of medications is given in Appendix A. All SCI subjects wore abdominal binders and support hose during the study. Subjects were excluded based on the following conditions: any orthopaedic, neurological or dermatological disorder that would contraindicate a HUT, deep vein thrombosis or any psychological disorder. Most SCI subjects were in some degree of deconditioning secondary to extended bed rest and immobility, causing some degree of orthostatic intolerance during the rehabilitation phase.

Three able-bodied, one paraplegic and two tetraplegic subjects had pre-syncopal symptoms either at the end of 60° HUT or at the beginning of 80° HUT. They were returned to the supine position immediately. So data at 80° HUT were not collected for these subjects.
Testing Schedules

All able-bodied subjects were studied once. All SCI subjects were scheduled to be studied eight times during their second, four, six, eight weeks, and six, eight, twelve months post injury. However, only one tetraplegic (C3 ASIA B) and one paraplegic (L1-T11 ASIA A) subjects were able to follow the planned schedule. One tetraplegic (C4 ASIA B) was studied four times, and one paraplegic (T11 ASIA A) was studied three times, and one paraplegic (L1-L3 ASIA A, C5 ASIA B) were studied once, and the rest were studied twice according to the schedule given above.

For each SCI subject, initial studies (~ two, four, six and eight weeks post-injury) were conducted while the subject was a patient at Cardinal Hill Rehabilitation Hospital (CHRH). These sessions were performed at the Physical Therapy Clinic at CHRH. Subsequent studies (conducted three, six, eight and 12 months post-injury) were performed at the General Clinical Research Center (GCRC) at the University of Kentucky. Studies of able-bodied subjects were also performed at the GCRC at the University of Kentucky. For studies at the GCRC, the subjects (both able-bodied and SCI subjects) were admitted on the day prior to the data collection session in order to provide dietary and behavioral conditions similar to those at CHRH.

All studies were conducting in the morning, except two tetraplegic studies, which were performed at noon due to episodes of injury related problems in the morning. All participants were familiarized with the study and gave informed consent to a protocol approved by the University of Kentucky Institutional Review Board and Cardinal Hill Rehabilitation Hospital.

Tilt Protocol

All subjects were studied at least one hour post-prandial and refrained from alcohol and caffeine 24 hours before the study. All subjects consumed a fat free breakfast, so as to not interfere with the circulatory hormonal assay for pancreatic polypeptide. Spinal cord injured subjects wore abdominal binders and support hose. Thirty min before study, AB subjects emptied their bladder and SCI subjects had bladder catheterization. An IV cannula (Quick Cath, Baxter) was inserted into an antecubital vein to obtain blood for fluid volume and hormonal analyses. Non-invasive instrumentation, described below, was applied while the subject lay supine on the tilt table. These preparations took approximately 30 minutes. All subjects were fixed to the tilt table by straps at the chest and pelvis.

The study lasted about one hour, beginning with a 10 min period of supine control, followed by four levels of HUT (20° , 40° , 60° , 80°) each lasting 7 min. The recovery period consisted of one min at 20° HUT followed by seven min. supine. During tilt, members of the research and clinical team continuously monitored the alertness of the subject as well as the quality of hemodynamic variables. If subjects developed syncopal symptoms (signs of fainting) during any part of the study, they were brought to supine and the recovery phase began. Blood samples for fluid volume and hormonal assays were taken at the end of supine control, 20° , 40° , 60° , 80° HUT and two minutes into recovery. A graphic illustration of the protocol is given in Figure 3.1.

Measurement Variables

Non-invasive instrumentation was used to measure the following hemodynamic variables.

<u>Arterial Blood Pressure (AP)</u>: Beat-to-beat continuous blood pressure was acquired through a Portapres Model-2 (Finapres Medical Systems, The Netherlands) with a sphygmomanometer finger cuff placed around the left middle or index finger. Manual arterial blood pressure measurements were taken at the beginning of supine control and at the end of the recovery period with a digital blood pressure measurement device.

<u>Thoracic Electrical Bioimpedance Cardiac Output (TEBCO)</u>: Eight thoracic impedance leads were placed on the neck and thorax to obtain analog ECG, ΔZ , dZ/dt, dZ/dt respiration, stroke volume, and heart rate through an EXT-TEBCO Module (Hemo Sapiens, Sedona, AZ).

<u>Skin Perfusion and Concentration of Moving Cells (SP1, SP2, CMBC1, CMBC2)</u>: Cutaneous skin perfusion (also referred to as skin blood flow) and concentration of moving cells at locations on the forearm (upper body) and shin (lower body) were acquired through a Perimed (Perimed, Sweden) laser doppler flowmeter.

<u>*Calf Circumference (CC):*</u> Calf circumference was acquired with a Hokanson EC-4 Plethysmograph (Hokanson, Bellvue, Washington) via a mercury-in-rubber strain gauge placed around the largest part of the left calf.

<u>Tilt Angle</u>: Tilt angle was acquired from an accelerometer mounted on the tilt table.

<u>Blood Sample:</u> Eleven mL of venous blood were drawn from an antecubital vein at six intervals during the protocol. Each sample was analyzed to determine levels of epinephrine, norepinephrine, hematocrit (HCT), total proteins (TP), plasma renin activity (PRA) and pancreatic polypeptide (PPP). Laboratory analysis of blood samples was performed at laboratories with expertise in each analysis: catecholamines (one mL) by Michael Ziegler, Clinical Research Center, UCSD, San Diego, CA; PPP (three mL); PRA (five mL); HCT and TP (two mL) at the University of Kentucky clinical laboratory.

Data Acquisition:

All data were acquired at 250 Hz and saved as a LABVIEW file to a Dell Inspiron 4100. The list of all acquired variables and their calibration units are given in Table 3.3. Prior to analyses; all data were eye-scanned and abnormalities were removed with ViiSoftware Browser, C++ program written by Dr. David Brown (University of Kentucky, Biomedical Engineering). Detailed information for this program is given in Appendix B.

Data pre-processing for Mean Values, Spectral Power and Cross Correlation Analysis: In ViiSoftware Browser, heart rate (HR) and RR interval were calculated from ECG; systolic, diastolic blood pressure (SBP and DBP respectively) were calculated from arterial blood pressure. Detailed of these calculations were given in Appendix B. The time delay between HR calculated, from ECG and HR acquired from EXT-TEBCO was determined, and EXT-TEBCO variables were aligned with respect to their actual acquired time. Next, data were down sampled to 5Hz in Browser and converted to binary files for export into *Matlab (The Mathworks)*. Finally, data were imported into Matlab using *fread* and *fopen* functions as a matrix consisting of 16 columns. Each column represented one variable.

Data pre-processing for baroreflex sequence technique: ECG, arterial blood pressure and tilt angle, sampled at 250 Hz, were converted to binary files and exported into Matlab. A Matlab program was written to identify the location of the R wave in the ECG, and to construct beat-to-beat sampled RR interval files. The maximum value of arterial blood pressure between the two R-R intervals (in msec) was computed and used to construct a beat-by-beat sampled systolic blood pressure (SBP) file.

Data Analysis:

Mean Value Analysis

The last 5 minutes (1500 data points) of data at each level of the protocol (supine control, 20° , 40° , 60° , 80° HUT and recovery) were used to calculate mean values of each variable. Cardiac output was found by multiplying heart rate and stroke volume. Data were averaged by group (i.e. able-bodied, paraplegic or tetraplegic group) and tilt position (i.e. supine control, 20° , 40° , 60° , 80° HUT and recovery). Standard error of the mean (SEM) was also calculated for each group and tilt position.

Spectral Power Analysis

A Matlab program was written to calculate spectral power, based on Welch's averaged periodogram method program. The last 10 minutes of data at supine control and the last 5 minute of data at each level of the tilt (20°, 40°, 60°, 80° HUT and recovery) were used for calculation. Data were divided into 500 points with 50% overlapping segments. The processes listed below were repeated for each segment: The Matlab *detrend* function was used to remove the mean value in order to remove any linear trend over the segment. The Matlab *Hanning* function with 500 data-points was used to decrease leakage of the power spectrum. The Matlab *fft* function with 1024 data-points was used to calculate discrete Fast Fourier coefficients.

A variable x(n) defines N-point data where n=0,1,2,3,...N-1, N=500, which x defines heart rate, blood pressure, upper or lower skin perfusions. Another variable h(n) defines N-point symmetric Hamming window, $h(n) = 0.5(1 - \cos(2\pi \frac{n}{N}))$, where n=0,1,2,...N-1, N=500. First y(n) was calculated by multiplying x(n) by h(n), which is y(n) = x(n)h(n). Discrete Fourier coefficients of y(n) were calculated from following equation:

$$Y(k) = \sum_{j=0}^{N-1} y(j) e^{-2\pi i j k/N}$$
, where k=0,1,2,...N-1....(1)

The absolute value of Y(k) was used as the spectral power estimation of x(n), which is shown as S(k).

$$S(k) = |Y(k)|^2$$
.....(2)

In discrete Fourier Transform the observed data sequence was considered as a multiplication of its periodic extension with a rectangular window. In the frequency domain, this corresponds to the convolution of the transform of the periodic extension and the transform of the window.

Total spectral power was calculated for two frequency regions: The low frequency region (LF, 0.04-0.15 Hz), sympathetic domination of regulation, and the high frequency region (HF, 0.15-0.4 Hz), parasympathetic domination of regulation (42).

$$LF _S = \sum_{k=10}^{31} S(k) \dots (3)$$

$$HF _S = \sum_{k=32}^{104} S(k) \dots (4)$$

Autonomic balance of heart rate was estimated based on the following indices:

$$SNS = \sum_{k=10}^{31} SHR(k) / \sum_{k=32}^{104} SHR(k) \dots (5)$$
$$PNS = \sum_{k=32}^{104} SHR(k) / (\sum_{k=10}^{104} SHR(k) \dots (6))$$

)

)

Where,

- SNS : Sympathetic nervous system index of heart
- PNS Parasympathetic nervous system index of heart
- SHR(k): Spectral power of heart rate

Cross Correlation Analysis

The last five minutes of the heart rate and systolic blood pressure time series from each tilt interval were filtered using fourth-order Butterworth band pass filters to separate oscillations in low frequency (LF: 0.04-0.15) and high frequency (HF: 0.15-0.45 Hz) regions. After filtering in the forward direction, the filtered sequence was then reversed and run back through the filter. The resultant series has precisely zero phase distortion. Each signal was divided into 30 sec segments (150 data points) for LF and HF analysis. Data segments overlapped by 50%, and were linearly detrended. Finally, cross correlation coefficients were calculated where the SBP segment was the reference signal and the heart rate segment was delayed with respect to the reference signal to create the time lag axis. All coefficient values were normalized by the product of the root mean square values of heart rate and systolic blood pressure. Matlab functions given below were used in the data analysis program; the *butter* function for finding the coefficients of the fourth-order Butterworth filter, the *filtfilt* function for filtering the data to obtain high and low frequency components, the *detrend* function for detrending the mean, and the *xcorr* function for calculation of correlation coefficients.

If s(n) and h(n), n=0,1,2,3,...N-1, N-point systolic blood pressure and heart rate, where N=150, then cross correlation coefficients can be calculated from the following equations:

$$CC_{sh}(m) = \frac{1}{N} \left(\sum_{i=0}^{N-|m|-1} s(i)h(i+|m|) \dots (7) \right)$$

$$CC_{sh}(m) = s(m) * h(-m) = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{\infty} s(k)h(m-k)$$
.....(8)

where * represents the convolution of two signals

The cross coefficients were normalized as below:

$$CCN_{sh}(m) = \frac{CC_{sh}(m)}{\sqrt{\frac{\sum_{j=1}^{N} s^{2}(j) \sum_{j=1}^{N} h^{2}(j)}{N^{2}}}} \dots (9)$$

Baroreflex Sequences

)

A computer program similar to those of Blaber et al. (12) and Di Rienzo et al. (24,25) was written to scan the beat-to-beat time series of SBP and RR intervals with minimum 1 mmHg SBP, and 4 ms RR interval thresholds. The last five minutes of data acquired from each tilt position were used for further analysis. Three or more consecutive beats that independently contained increasing and decreasing pressure (SBP+, SBP-) and RR interval (RR+, RR-) were identified. If any SBP beats fell within the segment of a Portapress servo adjustment, that beat was excluded. The total number of excluded beats was less than 1% of the total number of analyzed beats. If an identified SBP sequence was followed by an identified RR interval sequence with delay of zero, one or two beats, these SBP and RR interval sequences were assigned as coupled. A regression Coefficient was calculated for each coupled SBP and RR interval sequences. Only coupled sequences with regression coefficients r>0.90 were accepted as baroreflex sequences. (BRsq): A positive BRsq included coupled SBP+ and RR+, and a negative BRsq included coupled SBP- and RR- sequences. The mean slope of all BRsq was calculated and taken as an estimation of baroreflex sensitivity (BRS, ms/mmHg). The numbers of beats involved in SBP ramps and BRsq were determined at each tilt position. Since the mean RR interval varied among subjects and from supine to head up tilt positions within the same subject, the number of beats involved in SBP ramps and BRsq are reported as percentage of the overall number of analyzed heart beats in the defined segment. The program gave acceptable BRS estimation results when tested on the EuroBavar data set (51). The EuroBavar data set provides a set of data from nonhomogenous subjects with a large BRS range. The aim of this web site is to provide an identical set of data to compare the results of different techniques.

The baroreflex effectiveness index (BEI) was evaluated as the ratio between the total number of BRsq and the total number of SBP ramps (24). Positive BEI, ratio between positive BRsq and SBP+, and negative BEI, the ratio between negative BRsq and SBP-, indexes were also analyzed to determine the "selective" responsiveness of the baroreflex to SBP+ and SBP- (24).

Statistical Analysis:

The mean values of each variable from the two studies on the SCI subjects were used for statistical analysis. Differences within and between the three groups (AB, PARA and TETRA) during supine control, the four levels of HUT and recovery were tested for significance using a two factor Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). The group factor was used to indicate differences among the three groups. The tilt factor was used to indicate tilt effects for all groups. The group by tilt factor was used to determine significantly different tilt effects among groups. A p value ≤ 0.05 was accepted as indicating statistical significance. Results are presented as mean and standard error of mean (SEM).

Table 3.1 Demographic information from the SCI patients. The American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) classifies SCI into five categories, ranging from A to E: sensitiveness of 28 dermatomes are tested by pin prick and light touch, and 10 mytomes are tested and graded from 0 to 5 depend upon their strength. A: Complete: No motor or sensory function is preserved in the sacral segments S4-S5. B: Sensory incomplete: Sensory but not motor function is preserved below the level of injury and includes the S4-S5 sacral segment of the spinal cord. C: Motor incomplete: Motor function remains in more than half of key muscles below the level of injury, with muscle strength grade of less than 3. Sensory function is present below the neurological level and includes sacral segments S4-S5. D: Motor function remains in more than half of key muscles below the level of injury, with muscle strength grade of less than 3. Sensory function is present below the neurological level and includes sacral segments S4-S5. D: Motor function remains in more than half of key muscles below the level of injury, with muscle below the level of injury of the cervical segments S4-S5. D: Motor function remains in more than half of key muscles below the neurological level and includes sacral segments S4-S5. D: Motor function function remains in more than half of key muscles below the level of injury, with muscle strength grade of 3 or greater. Sensory function is present below the neurological level and includes sacral segments S4-S5. E: Normal: Motor and sensory function are normal. Tetraplegia refers to an injury to the cervical section of the spinal cord.

Post Injury time

	Subject No	Age, yr	Sex	Level of Injury	First Session	Second Session
Paraplegics	1	31	М	T-11 ASIA A	1w, 2d	2w, 5d
	2	20	М	L1-L3 ASIA A	9w, 4d	-
	3	60	М	T-10 ASIA A	4w, 1d	7w, 2d
	4	23	F	T5-T10 ASIA A	2w,3d	3w, 2d
	5	38	М	T10 ASIA A	1w,2d	2w, 5d
Tetraplegics	6	19	М	C3 ASIA B	1w,5d	3w, 5d
	7	30	М	T5 ASIA A	8w,3d	-
	8	41	М	C3 ASIA A	1w, 5d	3w, 5d
	9	24	М	C4 ASIA B	3w, 6d	5w, 4d
	10	19	М	C5 ASIA B	2w,3d	-



Figure 3.1 The standard tilt protocol included 10 minute supine control, 7-10 minute 20, 40 60 and 80 deg head up tilt, return to 1 minute 20 deg HUT and supine recovery positions. Blood samples were taken from an antecubital vein at the end of supine control, 20° , 40° , 60° , 80° HUT and two minutes into recovery.

			Engineering Units	
Channel	Signal	Voltage (V)	Value	Units
0	AP	[0.00 2.00]	JO 2001	mmHg
1	ECG (analog)	no calibration	no calibration	
2	ΔZ	[0 0.98 1.95 4.88]	TO 50 100 250]	unitless
3	dZ/dt	[0 0.98 1.95 4.88]	[0 50 100 250]	unitless
4	SV	[0 0.83 1.67 2.5]	[0 50 100 150]	mL
5	HR (TEBCO)	[0 0.83 1.67 3.33]	[0 50 100 200]	beats/min
6	TFC	[0 4.03]	[0 0.033 0 0.033]	unitless
7	∆Z/∆T _{resp}	[0 0.98 1.95 4.88]	[0 50 100 250]	unitless
8	RespRate	[0 0.5 1.0 1.5]	[0 10 20 30]	breaths/min
9	RF	±0.35V	±10,0	cm/sec
10	CC	[0 0.025], [0 0.25]	[0 0.1], [0 1]	%
11	Tilt Angle	[0.62 3.20]	[0 90]	degrees
12	SP1	[0 1]	0 100]	perf. Units
13	CMBC1	[0 1]	[0 100]	perf. Units
14	SP2	[0 1]	[0 100]	perf. Units
15	CMBC2	[[O 1]	[O 100]	perf. Units

Table 3.2: The list of acquired variables with calibration values in voltage and in engineering units.

Chapter 4 : Results

At their first study, three able bodied, one paraplegic and three tetraplegic subjects demonstrated symptoms of presyncope at the end of 60° head up tilt (HUT), and were returned to the supine position immediately. The paraplegic and one of the tetraplegic subjects were able to finish the whole protocol at their second study. The four remaining paraplegic and two tetraplegic subjects finished the protocol at both their first and second studies.

Typical hemodynamic responses to HUT for one able-bodied (left) and for one tetraplegic (right, C4 ASIA B) are illustrated in Figure 4.1. In this figure, heart rate (HR, bpm), arterial blood pressure (AP, mmHg), stroke volume (SV, mL), calf circumference (CC, % change), and the tilt protocol (time, minute) are plotted on the first, second, third, fourth and last rows respectively. After supine control, the able-bodied subject was head-up-tilted to 20 °, 40 °, 60 ° and 80° and then returned to the supine position. Each tilt level lasted 7 to 10 min. The spinal cord injured subject (right) was returned to the supine position immediately when he demonstrated symptoms of presyncope (at the beginning of 80° HUT). The able-bodied subject regulated blood pressure primarily by using increases in heart rate and peripheral resistance while the spinal cord injured subject was much less successful in minimizing blood pressure changes during tilt and was generally ineffectual in modulating heart rate to compensate for orthostatic challenges. At the onset of tilt, calf circumference, an estimation of blood pooling to the lower extremities, started to rise, and was not different between subjects eve though the SCI subject wore support hose.



Figure 4.1: Time series plots of cardiovascular variables for an able-bodied (left) and a spinal cord injured subject (right, C4 ASIA B) undergoing increasing levels of head-up tilt.

Mean Values

Arterial Blood Pressure: Averaged (\pm SEM) arterial blood pressures for ablebodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects in response to head-up-tilt are given in Figure 4.2. Able bodied and paraplegic subjects maintained their blood pressure, while tetraplegics exhibited a significant reduction in blood pressure (p < 0.05) under increasing orthostatic stress. The standard error around the mean value was also higher in the tetraplegic group indicating more variability in that group.



Figure 4.2: Average (\pm SEM) arterial blood pressure for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects. Group, tilt and group/tilt interaction, p value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), Δ significantly different from PARA (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Heart Rate: Averaged (\pm SEM) heart rates for able-bodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects in response to head-up-tilt are illustrated in Figure 4.3. The ablebodied subjects increased their heart rate in order to compensate for the reduction in blood pressure induced by head-up-tilt. Tetraplegics were significantly (p < 0.05) less effective in increasing heart rate to accompany the tilt-induced decrease in blood pressure. The paraplegic group had the highest mean heart rate among three groups.



Figure 4.3: Average (\pm SEM) heart rate for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects. Group/tilt interaction, p value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), Δ significantly different from PARA (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Stroke Volume: Averaged (\pm SEM) stroke volumes for able-bodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects are shown in Figure 4.4. As expected, stroke volume significantly (p < 0.05) decreased in the able-bodied group in response to HUT. Mean stroke volume also decreased with increasing HUT in both SCI groups; however, only paraplegics decreased their stroke volume significantly from supine to 80 deg HUT. There was no significant reduction at any tilt level in the tetraplegic group. The difference between the paraplegic and control groups was greatest at supine and 20 deg HUT, and dimished at higher tilt levels. The tetraplegic group exhibited high variances around the mean values at each tilt level.



Figure 4.4: Average (\pm SEM) stroke volume for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects. \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Upper Body Skin Perfusion: Averaged (±SEM) upper body skin perfusion was maintained in able-bodied and in paraplegic groups but paraplegics had lower values than able-bodied at rest and in response to ead up tilt, Figure 4.5. The tetraplegic response was similar to able-bodied at rest, but significantly decreased from supine to 80 deg HUT, Figure 4.5. The paraplegic group had the lowest values among the three groups.



Figure 4.5: Average (\pm SEM) upper body skin perfusion for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects. Tilt effect, p value ≤ 0.05 ; \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Lower Body Skin Perfusion: Averaged (±SEM) lower body skin perfusion for able-bodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects are shown in Figure 4.6. Mean values of lower body skin perfusion decreased significantly in response to increasing tilt levels in all three groups, and returned to control values in supine recovery. The tetraplegic group had the lowest values among the three groups.



Figure 4.6: Average (\pm SEM) lower body skin perfusion for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects. Tilt effect, p value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Calf Circumference: Due to the time-dependant nature of calf circumference during orthostatic stress, the rate of vascular fluid shift to the leg was evaluated as the ratio between the difference of calf circumference at end of the 80 deg HUT and supine control divided by the intervening time in Figure 4.7.

Rate of vascular fluid shift = $(CC_B - CC_A)/(time_B - time_A)$, where CC_A and CC_B are the calf circumference values at time_A and time_B which correspond to the end of the supine (A) and the end of 80 deg HUT (B), Figure 4.7.



Figure 4.7: Calf Circumference and tilt protocol for one able-bodied subject illustrating the calculation of the rate of vascular fluid shift.

The average tilt-induced rate of vascular fluid shift to the lower extremities was lower in SCI subjects but not significantly different among the three groups, Figure 4.8.



Figure 4.8: Average (\pm SEM) the rate of vascular fluid shifts to the leg for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects. There was no significant difference among the three groups.

Spectral Power Analysis

Variability of blood pressure and heart rate during head-up-tilt can be quantified using power spectral analysis. This approach yields an objective indication of blood pressure regulatory capability in each subject and indicates involvement of heart rate control in blood pressure regulation. The sympathetic and parasympathetic branches of the nervous system are main sources for oscillations in heart rate in response to HUT, respiration also plays a significant role in creating oscillations around the breathing frequency (0.2-0.25 Hz) in humans as well.

An example of spectral power of heart rate is shown in Figure 4.9 for an able bodied subject (left) and a spinal cord injured subject (right, C3 ASIA B). The vertical axis in these figures gives the power at frequencies between 0.4 Hz on the left to 0.01 Hz on the right (axis running approximately parallel to text lines). The spectral power peaks were analyzed in three frequency ranges: a very low frequency range (centered around 0.03 Hz, far right) and a low frequency range around 0.07 Hz, a high range center around 0.25 Hz. The time axis (running into the plane of the paper) shows progressively later times in the experiment; for example, the control period, before tilt actions begin, is nearest the front of the graph.



Figure 4.9: Heart rate spectral power of one able-bodied (on the left), and one SCI (on the right, C3, ASIA B) subject, each undergoing increasing levels of head-up tilt. Note reduced power in SCI patient (right) as compared to able-bodied subject (left).

Mean values of the spectral power of blood pressure in the 0-0.3 Hz frequency range, of heart rate and $\Delta z/dt$ respiration in the 0-0.4 Hz frequency range, of upper and lower body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range are illustrated below for ablebodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic groups. In order to provide clear visual presentation, standard errors around the mean values at each frequency are not included in these figures. The figures that include average (±SEM) spectral power of blood pressure, heart rate and $\Delta z/dt$ respiration at each tilt level for all three groups are given in Appendix A.

Arterial Blood Pressure

Mean spectral power of arterial blood pressure in the 0-0.3 Hz frequency range at each tilt position is given in Figure 4.10 for the able-bodied group. The power at each tilt is plotted in a different color. Color codes of tilt positions are given in the upper right corner of the figure. As seen in the figure, the power in the very low frequency range (0.01-0.03Hz) decreased with tilt, and the power around 0.1 Hz increased with increasing orthostatic stress, which we interpret as an index of sympathetic outflow to the heart and vasculature (65). There were no major changes in frequencies above 0.3Hz.



Figure 4.10: Mean spectral power of arterial blood pressure for the able-bodied group (11 studies from 11 individuals) at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), and supine recovery. The power around 0.1 Hz increased with increasing orthostatic stress induced by tilt.

The paraplegic group-mean spectral power of arterial blood pressure in the 0-0.3 Hz frequency range is given in Figure 4.11 at each tilt position. The spectral power of blood pressure was lower than in able-bodied, and was almost unchanged in all frequencies during increasing orthostatic stress induced by increasing tilt. The power in the very low frequency range was the lowest of the three groups, and decreased with tilt as in the able-bodied group. There were no major increases in the power around 0.1 Hz.



Figure 4.11: Mean spectral power of arterial blood pressure for the paraplegic group (10 studies, 5 individuals) undergoing five levels of head-up-tilt (HUT). The power around 0.1 Hz almost remained in that group through the study. The power in very low frequency range (0.01-0.04) was lowest in all three groups.

Mean spectral power of arterial blood pressure of the tetraplegic group in the 0-0.3 Hz frequency range at each tilt position is illustrated in Figure 4.12. The spectral power of blood pressure in the very low frequency range increased with tilt and reached a maximum at supine recovery. Power in this group clustered more sharply around the very low frequency peak than in able-bodied and paraplegic groups. The power around 0.1 Hz was the smallest of three groups, and diminished with increasing orthostatic stress induced by tilt.



Figure 4.12: Mean spectral power of arterial blood pressure for the tetraplegic group (8 studies from 5 individuals at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg HUT, supine recovery, 5 studies from 3 individuals at 80 deg HUT). In all groups, the spectral power was lowest around 0.1 Hz, and the peak at 0.01 Hz sharply decreased with increasing tilt.

Heart Rate

Mean spectral power of heart rate across the 0-0.4 Hz frequency range for the able-bodied group at each tilt position is demonstrated in the large graph of Figure 4.13. The mean spectral power of respiration in the 0.15-0.45 Hz frequency range is given in panel b of this figure. Breathing frequency occurred around 0.25 Hz (15 breath/min), the normal range for free breathing. The respiration spectral power was broad during supine

control and recovery positions, but gradually concentrated around 0.25Hz, and lost its magnitude with increasing tilt levels. The powers of breathing-induces oscillations in heart rate (respiratory sinus arrhythmia) are illustrated in panel *a* as a peak around 0.25 Hz in the heart rate spectral power. Breathing effects on heart rate were more pronounced at supine positions, and decreased with increasing tilt levels ostensibly due to parasympathetic withdrawal. The peak around 0.1 Hz increased with increasing orthostatic stress, a normal response due to increasing sympathetic activity to the heart.



Figure 4.13: Main Figure: Mean spectral power of HR in the 0-0.4 Hz frequency range; Panel a: Mean spectral power of HR expanded to show detail in the 0.15-0.4 Hz frequency range; Panel b: Mean spectral power of respiration (panel b) for AB group (11 individuals, 11 studies) undergoing five levels of head-up-tilt (HUT).

Paraplegic mean spectral power of heart rate in the 0-0.4 Hz frequency range at each tilt position is given in Figure 4.14. The maximum scale of the vertical axis is 2/3 that of the able-bodied mean spectral power of heart rate, Figure 4.13. Mean spectral power of respiration in the 0.15-0.4 Hz frequency range at each tilt position for this group is illustrated in panel *b* in this figure. The mean breathing frequency occurred around 0.25 Hz (15 breath/min), close to that of able-bodied subjects, but with higher variance.

Breathing power was broad during supine control and recovery positions like the ablebodied group, but did not concentrate with increasing tilt levels. Smaller breathing effects on heart rate are observed than for able-bodied, which can be seen as less pronounced peak around 0.25 Hz in the heart rate spectral power, panel *a* (the vertical scale is half of the scale of Figure 4.13 panel *b*). Power around 0.25 Hz decreased, and power around 0.1 Hz increased in heart rate spectral power with increasing tilt levels similar to heart rate power of the able-bodied group, however, both peaks were less pronounced than in the able-bodied group.



Figure 4.14; Main Figure: Mean spectral power of heart rate in the 0-0.4 Hz frequency range; Panel a: Mean spectral power of respiration for the paraplegic group (10 studies, 5 individuals) at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery.

Tetraplegic mean spectral power of heart rate in the 0-0.4 Hz frequency range at each tilt position is given in Figure 4.15. The maximum scale of the vertical axis is about 10 times smaller than the maximum scale of Figure 4.13, and Figure 4.14. Mean spectral power of respiration in the 0.05-0.45 Hz frequency range at each tilt position is illustrated in the small panel in this figure. Respiration is the main source for peaks around 0.15 Hz and 0.25 Hz at supine, 20 and 40 deg HUT as tetraplegics tended to have lower breathing frequencies than did able-bodied at these tilt positions. Since slow breathing has a greater

effect on heart rate spectral power than fast breathing (40) the peak around the breathing frequencies was stronger in tetraplegics at supine and 20 deg HUT than in able-bodied and paraplegic groups. Respiration effects on heart rate virtually disappeared at 60 and 80 deg HUT, again ostensibly due to withdrawal of parasympathetic influence. The heart rate spectral power around 0.1Hz and tilt-induced changes were not easily noticeable due to respiration effects in this frequency range.



Figure 4.15: Mean spectral power of heart rate (main figure) and respiration (small window) for the tetraplegic group (8 studies from 5 individuals at supine control, 20, 40, 60° head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery, 5 studies from 3 individuals at 80 deg HUT).

Upper Body Skin Perfusion

Mean spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range at each tilt position is given in Figure 4.16 for the able-bodied group. The mean power around 0.03 Hz frequency decreased at 20° HUT, and then increased with increasing orthostatic stress. The mean spectral power around 0.1 Hz decreased at 20°





Figure 4.16: Mean spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range for the AB group (11 studies from 11 individuals) at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), and supine recovery. The power around 0.03 Hz and 0.1 Hz frequencies increased with increasing orthostatic stress induced by tilt.

Mean spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range at each tilt position for the paraplegic group is given in Figure 4.17. The maximum scale on the vertical axis is around 1.5 times lower than the maximum scale in Figure 4.16. The power around 0.02 Hz frequency was higher at supine control. Unlike the ablebodied group, the power around 0.02 Hz in this group decreased with increasing tilt

levels, and did not return to the supine control value at recovery. The mean spectral power around 0.1 Hz decreased with tilt levels, also different than the able-bodied group.



Figure 4.17: Mean spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range for the paraplegic group (10 studies, 5 individuals) undergoing five levels of head-up-tilt (HUT). The power around 0.03 Hz and 0.1Hz decreased with increasing orthostatic stress induced by tilt.

Mean spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range is illustrated in Figure 4.18 for the tetraplegic group at each tilt position. The scale on the vertical axis is the same as the scale in Figure 4.17, around 1.5 times lower than the scale in Figure 4.16. The mean spectral power at all frequencies was lowest in the three groups, and diminished with increasing orthostatic stress induced by tilt.



Figure 4.18: Mean spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range for the tetraplegic group (8 studies from 5 individuals at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg HUT, supine recovery, 5 studies from 3 individuals at 80 deg HUT). The mean spectral power was the lowest in all frequencies, and diminished with increasing orthostatic stress induced by tilt.

Lower Body Skin Perfusion

Mean spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range at each tilt position is given in Figure 4.19 for the able-bodied group. After decreasing from supine control to 20 deg HUT, the mean power around 0.02 Hz

increased with increasing orthostatic stress, and had the highest value at the recovery position. The mean power around 0.1 Hz decreased with increasing tilt levels.



Figure 4.19: Mean spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range for the AB group (10 studies from 10 individuals) at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), and supine recovery.

Mean spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range is given in the main Figure 4.20 for the paraplegic group at each tilt position. The scale on the vertical axis is half the scale on Figure 4.19. The power around 0.02 Hz frequency was higher at supine recovery positions like the able-bodied group, and decreased with increasing tilt levels. The mean power around 0.1 Hz, given in the small window, also decreased with increasing tilt levels (like the able-bodied group).



Figure 4.20: Mean spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the 0-0.12 Hz frequency range for the paraplegic group (10 studies, 5 individuals) undergoing five levels of head-up-tilt (HUT). The vertical scale is half of the vertical scale of Figure 4.19. The power around 0.1 Hz illustrated in the small window. The power around 0.03 Hz and 0.1 Hz decreased with increasing orthostatic stress induced by tilt.

Tetraplegic group mean spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the 0-0.12 Hz frequency range is given in Figure 4.21 at each tilt position. The maximum of the vertical axis is approximately half of the scale of Figure 4.20, and one third of the scale of Figure 4.19. The mean power at each frequency was the lowest among the three groups and decreased with increasing orthostatic stress. The mean power around 0.1 Hz decreased with increasing tilt levels.



Figure 4.21: Mean spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the 0-0.2 Hz frequency range for the tetraplegic group (8 studies from 5 individuals at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg HUT, supine recovery, 5 studies from 3 individuals at 80 deg HUT). The mean power decreased with increasing tilt levels, and had the smallest values at all frequencies.

Indexes of Sympathetic Activity via Spectral Power Analysis

Low frequency (LF, 0.04-0.15 Hz) spectral power of blood pressure has been used as a noninvasive index of sympathetic control of vasomotion. Average (±SEM) spectral power of blood pressure in the LF region for able-bodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery,

are given in Figure 4.22. The power in this region significantly increased with increasing orthostatic stress in able-bodied, but remained fairly constant in SCI subjects. Paraplegics had significantly (p < 0.05) lower values than able-bodied at each tilt level, and tetraplegics had significantly (p < 0.05) lower values than both able-bodied and paraplegics at each tilt level. This index is a good candidate for a non-invasive index to discriminate able-bodied from SCI, and paraplegic from tetraplegic.



Figure 4.22: Average (\pm SEM) spectral power of blood pressure in the LF region for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT) and supine recovery. Group, tilt and group/tilt interaction, p value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), Δ significantly different from PARA (same stress level), \oplus significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Low frequency spectral power of heart rate has been used as a noninvasive index of sympathetic outflow to the heart. Average (±SEM) spectral power of heart rate in the LF region for able-bodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg HUT, supine recovery are given in Figure 4.23. The power in this region increased with increasing orthostatic stress in able-bodied, remained fairly constant in paraplegics, and decreased in tetraplegics with increasing tilt. The SCI individuals' values were significantly lower than able-bodied subjects at 60 and 80 deg HUT and in supine recovery. This result indicates that SCI individuals had less dynamic activity in the LF frequency range compared to able-bodied subjects which was expected due to damage of sympathetic outflow to the heart.



Figure 4.23: Average (\pm SEM) spectral power of heart rate in the LF region for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic ((n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery. subjects. Group, tilt and group/tilt interaction p value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), Δ significantly different from PARA (same stress level), \Rightarrow significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Low frequency spectral power of upper body skin perfusion can be used to indicate sympathetic activity to skin arterioles controlling blood flow in the forearm. Figure 4.24 illustrates average (\pm SEM) spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in LF region for able-bodied (n = 10, result of one able-bodied subject was not used due to high

noise), paraplegic (n = 5) and tetraplegic (n = 4, but n = 3 at 80° HUT) subjects at supine control, 20° , 40° , 60° HUT, and supine recovery. Power in this region tended to increase in able-bodied and significantly decreased in SCI subjects in response to HUT. The able-bodied group had significantly higher power than paraplegics and tetraplegics at each tilt level.



Figure 4.24: Average (\pm SEM) spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in the LF region for ablebodied (n=10), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=4, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery. Group, tilt and group/tilt interaction, p value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Low frequency spectral power of lower body skin perfusion can be used as an indicator of sympathetic activity to skin arterioles controlling blood flow in the shin. Figure 4.25 illustrates average (\pm SEM) spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the LF region for three groups in response to HUT. The able-bodied group significantly (p < 0.05) decreased power in that region to regulate blood pressure in response to increasing orthostatic stress. Both SCI groups also demonstrated significant reduction in
power from supine control to 80° HUT, but their power was significantly (p<0.05) lower than in the able-bodied group at all tilt positions.



Figure 4.25: Average (\pm SEM) spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in the LF region for ablebodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=4, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery. Group, tilt and group/tilt interaction, p value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Indexes of Parasympathetic Activity via Spectral Power Analysis

High frequency (HF, 0.15-0.4 Hz) spectral power of heart rate has been used as a noninvasive index of parasympathetic control of heart rate. Average (\pm SEM) spectral power of heart rate in the HF region for able-bodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects at the supine control, 20°, 40°, 60° HUT, the supine recovery are given in Figure 4.26.

The power in this region decreased with increasing orthostatic stress in all groups. Paraplegics had significantly lower values than able-bodied at each tilt level except supine control. Tetraplegics also had significantly lower values at 40°, 60°, 80° HUT and the supine recovery with respect to able-bodied, and with respect to paraplegics at 80° HUT and the supine recovery.



deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine ecovery. Group, tilt and group/tilt interaction by value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), Δ significantly different from PARA (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Since the power of heart rate in this region is strongly coupled with respiration, average (\pm SEM) spectral power of $\Delta Z/dt$ respiration is illustrated in Figure 4.27. Respiratory power was relatively unchanged by tilt in able-bodied and paraplegics with small variances around the mean. Mean power and variance in tetraplegic subjects was highest among the three groups indicating increased respiratory variabilities in that group. Similarities of respiration and high frequency spectral power of heart rate (Figures 4.26 and 4.27) at rest and in response to tilt indicate that tetraplegics had higher respiratory influences in their HF spectral power of heart rate than did able-bodied and paraplegics.



Figure 4.27: Average (\pm SEM) spectral power of $\Delta Z/dt$ respiration for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic ((n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt (HUT), supine recovery.

The Balance between Parasympathetic and Sympathetic Branches of Nervous System

The powers of the LF and HF oscillations characterizing heart rate variability appear to reflect, in their reciprocal relationship, changes in the state of sympathovagal balance occurring during numerous physiological and pathophysiological conditions. The sympathetic autonomic nervous system (SNS) index was estimated as below (Equation 5):

SNS : LF power/HF power of heart rate

The parasympathetic autonomic nervous system (PNS) index was estimated as below (Equation 6):

PNS : HF power/(LF+HF) power of heart rate

During a sympathetic challenge, such as head-up tilt, increases in the SNS index are expected in able-bodied persons due to shifts in autonomic modulation toward augmented sympathetic, and attenuated vagal, activity (Montano N, 1994). Figure 4.28 illustrates the SNS index of heart rate for the three groups. As expected, the able-bodied group significantly increased their index from supine control to 40° , 60° and 80° HUT. Paraplegic subjects also demonstrated a comparable pattern in which the index significantly increased from supine to 60° , 80° HUT. In the tetraplegic group, the index showed little change with increasing orthostatic stress but none of these increases was significant. The paraplegic index value was close to that of able-bodied, and tetraplegics had the lowest index value at each tilt level (significant at 60° and 80° HUT).



Figure 4.28: Average (\pm SEM) heart rate SNS index for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic ((n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt, supine recovery. Tilt effect, p<0.05; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

The PNS index significantly (p<0.05) decreased in the able-bodied and the paraplegic groups in response to HUT, Figure 4.29. This lessening also occurred in the tetraplegic group, but there was no significant change at any tilt level.



Figure 4.29: Average (\pm SEM) PNS index of heart rate for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5, but n=3 at 80deg HUT) subjects at supine control, 20, 40, 60 deg head-up-tilt, supine recovery. Tilt effect, p<0.05: \Rightarrow significantly different from control (same group).

The Cross Correlation Technique

Cross correlation of blood pressure and heart rate can be used to evaluate both feed-forward and feed-back characteristics of the relationship between blood pressure and heart rate (6). Figure 4.30 illustrates 50 sec. of systolic blood pressure (SBP) (a), heart rate (HR) (b), and cross correlation (c) and 50 sec of the correlogram (d) between these two variables for one able-bodied subject at 80° head-up tilt. The correlation graph in Figure 4.30c has two main features; the magnitude of the correlation on the vertical axis and the lead/lag time between systolic blood pressure and heart rate on the horizontal axis.

The negative magnitude represents the strength of the feed-back relationship, and the positive magnitude represents the strength of the feed-forward relationship between the two signals. A correlation magnitude value of 1 indicates perfect correlation between these two signals. Since SBP was used as a reference signal and HR was slid backward and forward, negative lags refer to SBP leading HR, and positive lags refer to SBP leaging HR. The negative peak at -0.86 occurring around -1.5sec in Figure 4.30c indicates that changes in SBP drive the opposite (feed-back) changes in HR with 1.5 sec time delay.

The positive peak value of 0.75 occurring around 4.5 sec in Figure 4.30c indicates that changes in HR drive same directional (feed-forward) changes in SBP with a 4.5 sec time delay. The correlogram illustrated in Figure 4.30d adds time to the correlation of SBP and HR. The vertical axis shows lead/lag time, and the horizontal axis shows the progression time of the data record. The magnitude of the correlation is indicated by the color density. The negative magnitude (feed-back) appears in blue, and the positive magnitude (feed-forward) appears in red.

The bar on the right shows the magnitude of the correlation, the darker the color, the stronger the correlation. Since SBP and HR are non-stationary signals and features of the correlation of these two signals changes over the data record, the correlogram gives information concerning dynamics of the system. As seen in Figure 4.30d, the positive magnitude lost strength between 30-38 sec of HUT but regained strength while the negative magnitude became wider after 30 sec with the same strength.

The value of the cross correlation (Figure 4.30c) lies in its ability to quantify the magnitude of the correlation between related phenomena separated by a time delay.



Figure 4.30: Fifty seconds of systolic blood pressure (a), and heart rate (b) of one able-bodied subject at 80° head up tilt. The cross correlation between these two variables is shown in (c) and the correlogram between the two signals is shown in (d). Lead/lag time information is on the vertical, and the experiment progression time is on the horizontal axis. The magnitude of the correlation is indicated by the color density; blue represents negative, red represents positive correlation. The bar shows the magnitude of the correlation-; the darker the color, the stronger the correlation.

Figure 4.31 illustrated the systolic blood pressure and heart rate correlogram across a full range of tilt studies for an able-bodied (a) and a tetraplegic patient (b, C3 ASIA B) in the HF region where regulation by the parasympathetic nervous system is dominant. The tilt angle increments are superimposed over the graph to increase interpreting of correlation patterns relative to tilt events. Note the appreciably stronger correlation throughout the study in the able-bodied compared to the tetraplegic subject that became more pronounced at higher levels of tilt. The SCI subject was returned to supine position immediately after 1 min. of 80° HUT because of development of presyncopal symptoms.



Figure 4.31: Correlogram between HR and SBP in the HF (0.15-0.45 Hz) region, with tilt angle superimposed, plotted as a function of time for an able-bodied (a) and a tetraplegic patient b, C3 ASIA B)

Figure 4.32 presents group averaged LF cross correlations between systolic blood pressure and heart rate as a function of time (correlograms) for able bodied (top), paraplegic (middle) and tetraplegic (bottom) studies at rest (left column), in response to tilt (columns 2-5), and recovery from tilt. The magnitudes of the cross-correlation values are color coded according to the color bars on the right of the figure. The lag times (sec) are given on the vertical axes where positive lags correspond to SBP lagging HR. The time in minutes (i.e. progression of the experiment) is plotted along the horizontal axes with respect to the tilt angle change. Able-bodied had strong negative (feedback) and

positive (feed-forward) correlations, blue and red bands respectively, at all stress levels. Paraplegics maintained both feed-back and feed-forward characteristics during increasing stress while tetraplegics had lower values of both characteristics during rest and recovery that essentially disappeared during tilt.



Figure 4.32: Group averaged low frequency (0.04-0.15 Hz) cross correlation between SBP and HR for able bodied (top, n=11), paraplegic (middle, n=5) and tetraplegic (bottom, n=5) subjects at rest (left column), in response to tilt (columns 2-5), and recovery from tilt. The lead/lag times (sec) are given on the vertical axis, and time in minutes (i.e. progression of the experiment) is plotted along the horizontal axis. The strong blue band around -2 sec in the able-bodied group represents feedback characteristics, which also appear on the paraplegic group with less strength under lower orthostatic stress. The diminished strength of the feedback magnitude with increasing orthostatic stress is clearly seen in the tetraplegic group. The red band around 3.5 sec, indicating feed-forward characteristics, remains in the able-bodied, and the paraplegic, but decreases in the tetraplegic groups under increasing orthostatic stress.

Figure 4.33 presents the group averaged HF cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate for able bodied (top), paraplegic (middle) and tetraplegic (bottom) subjects during supine rest (left column), in response to tilt (columns 2-5), and recovery from tilt. Able-bodied subjects had the strongest blue and red bands at rest and during head up tilt. Paraplegics had weaker correlations than able bodied, but the correlation remained throughout the study. Both correlations declined in tetraplegics with tilt. Respiratory effects may contribute to tetraplegics' systolic blood pressure and heart rate correlations during supine rest, at 20° HUT and supine recovery.



Figure 4.33: High frequency (0.15-0.45 Hz) cross correlation between SBP and HR for able bodied (top, n=11), paraplegic (middle, n=5) and tetraplegic (bottom, n=5) subjects at rest (left column), in response to tilt (columns 2-5), and recovery from tilt. The lead/lag times (sec) are given on the vertical axis, and time in minutes (i.e. progression of the experiment) is plotted along the horizontal axis. The magnitude of the correlation is indicated by the color density; blue represents negative (feedback), red represents positive (feed-forward) correlation. The bar on the right shows the magnitude of the correlation; the darker the color, the stronger the correlation. The last five minutes of data were used at each tilt position. There is a strong blue band around -1sec in AB throughout the study representing negative feedback control, which

also appears in the paraplegic group with less strength. The diminishment in the strength of the feedback magnitude with increasing orthostatic stress is clearly seen in the tetraplegic group. The red band around 1.5 sec remains in the able-bodied and the paraplegic whereas diminishes in the tetraplegic groups.

Indexes of Sympathetic Activity via Cross Correlation Technique

Figure 4.34 shows the average magnitude of the LF negative peak (a), and the magnitude versus its corresponding time lag (from zero to the negative peak) of the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate (b). Although the correlation magnitudes for the SCI groups were similar at rest, they did not exhibit increasing magnitude in response to tilt as was the case in able bodied subjects. The strength of the correlation significantly increased in able-bodied at 40°, 60° and 80° HUT, remains in paraplegic, and declines in tetraplegic group (group, tilt, group/tilt interaction, p < 0.05). The time lags for reaching the maximum negative correlation points in response to increasing orthostatic stress covered a small range in the able bodied and paraplegic subjects, but occupied different regions in the tetraplegic subjects (group, group/tilt interaction, p < 0.05). The tetraplegic group exhibited an erratic time lag behavior, most likely the result of weak (or nonexistent) correlation being dominated by noise and other weakly correlated processes (note the low correlation).



Figure 4.34: Group averaged magnitude of the LF (0.04-0.15Hz) negative peak of the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate (a), and group averaged magnitude vs. corresponding time lag of cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate where systolic blood pressure leads heart rate (b) at

rest and in response to tilt for able-bodied subjects (n=11), paraplegics (n=5) and tetraplegics (n=5). Group, group/tilt interaction, p <0.05); • significantly different from AB (same stress level), Δ significantly different from paraplegic (same stress level), Δ significantly different from supine condition (same group). 1: supine control, 2: 20°HUT, 3: 40°HUT, 4: 60°HUT, 5: 80°HUT.

Indexes of Parasympathetic Activity via Cross Correlation Technique

Figure 4.35 shows the group average magnitude of the negative peak (a), and the magnitude versus its time lag (b, from zero to the negative peak) for the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate in the HF region. All groups had relatively close values at rest, and significantly decreased their values from supine to 80° HUT. Although, the decrease in correlation magnitude with increase in tilt angle was common in all groups, SCI subjects demonstrated a higher reduction in magnitude than did ablebodied group at higher tilt angles. Resting time lag values were similar (0.2 sec) in ablebodied and tetraplegic groups, and larger in the paraplegic group. The time lags slightly go up in able-bodied and paraplegics but tend to decease in the tetraplegic group with increasing tilt levels (Figure 4.35, b).



Figure 4.35: Group averaged magnitude of the HF (0.15-0.4Hz) negative peak of the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate (a), and group averaged magnitude vs. corresponding time lag of cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate where systolic blood pressure leads heart rate (b) at rest and in response to tilt for able-bodied subjects (n=11), paraplegics (n=5) and tetraplegics (n=5). Negative correlation magnitude: group, tilt, p<0.05, time lag: group, tilt, group/tilt interaction, p<0.05).1: supine control, 2: 20°HUT, 3: 40°HUT, 4: 60°HUT, 5: 80°HUT. • significantly different from AB

(same stress level), Δ significantly different from paraplegic (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

Indexes of Low Frequency Feed-Forward Activity via Cross Correlation Technique

Figure 4.36 illustrates the average magnitude of the LF positive peak (a), and the magnitude versus its corresponding time lag (from zero to the positive peak) of cross correlation between SBP and HR (b). The strength of the positive correlation remained in the able-bodied and the paraplegic groups, but significantly decreased in the tetraplegic group with increasing tilt (group, tilt, group/tilt interaction p < 0.05). There was little change in time lags (for reaching the maximum positive correlation peaks) in able-bodied in response to increasing tilt. This index in the paraplegic group was significantly lower at supine control, 20°, and 40° deg HUT than in the able-bodied group, and reached the able-bodied value at 60° and 80° HUT. Tetraplegics had comparable values to ablebodied at supine control and significantly increased at 80° HUT. This group also demonstrated increasing high variance around the mean with increasing tilt angle.



Figure 4.36: Group averaged magnitude (left) and time lag (right) of the LF (0.04-0.15Hz) positive peak of the cross correlation between SBP and HR at rest and in response to tilt is shown on the left (a) for ablebodied subjects (n=11), paraplegics (n=5) and tetraplegics (n=5). Magnitude, group, tilt, group/tilt interaction, time lags, tilt, group/tilt interaction, p<0.05; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), Δ significantly different from paraplegic (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group). 1: supine control, 2: 20°HUT, 3: 40°HUT, 4: 60°HUT, 5: 80°HUT.

Indexes of High Frequency Feed-Forward Activity via Cross Correlation Technique

Figure 4.37 shows the group average magnitude of the HF positive peak (a), and the magnitude versus its time lag (from zero to the positive peak) for the cross correlation between SBP and HR (b). The strength of the magnitude remained constant from supine to 60° HUT, and significantly decreased at 80° HUT in the able-bodied group. The paraplegic and tetraplegic groups had significantly lower values than able-bodied at each tilt level. The reduction in the strength of the magnitude was significant at 40° , 60° and 80° HUT in the tetraplegic group compared to their supine values (Figure 4.37, a). The time delay showed little decrease in the able-bodied group, but increased in the SCI group with increasing tilt levels (Figure 4.37, b). The tetraplegic group demonstrated bigger time lags than paraplegics at each tilt level except supine control. Positive correlation magnitude: group, tilt, group/tilt interaction, p < 0.05, Time lag: tilt, group/tilt interaction, p < 0.05.



Figure 4.37: Group averaged magnitude (left) and time lag (right) of the HF (0.15-0.45 Hz) positive peak of the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate at rest and in response to tilt is shown on the left for able-bodied subjects (n=11), paraplegics (n=5) and tetraplegics (n=5). Group averaged magnitude, group, tilt, group/tilt interaction, p<0.05). The time delay, tilt, group/tilt interaction, p<0.05. 1: supine control, 2: 20°HUT, 3: 40°HUT, 4: 60°HUT, 5: 80°HUT.• significantly different from AB (same stress level), Δ significantly different from paraplegic (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

The Baroreflex Sequence Technique

Baroreflex Sensitivity Index (ms/mmHg, BRS)

The baroreflex sensitivity index defines the relationship between a change in R-R interval in response to a given change in blood pressure. Baroreflex sensitivity at rest and in response to head-up-tilt is given in Figure 4.38 for all groups. This index decreased with increasing tilt levels in all groups. Baroreflex sensitivity of able-bodied and tetraplegic groups were similar at rest, and significantly decreased at 40°, 60°, 80° HUT from the control and 20° HUT. The paraplegic group had the lowest values at each tilt level.



Figure 4.38: Averaged (\pm SEM) baroreflex sensitivity index for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) in response to head up tilt. Tilt and group/tilt interaction p value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), \clubsuit significantly different from supine condition (same group).

The Occurrence of Systolic Blood Pressure Ramps

This index defines the input to the baroreceptors and was calculated as the number of beats involved in generating systolic blood pressure (positive and negative) ramps. It is reported as the percentage of total analyzed beats in a segment. The average (\pm SEM) percentage of heartbeats involved in positive and negative systolic blood pressure ramps is illustrated in Figure 4.39. The index increased significantly in ablebodied subjects, remained relatively unchanged in paraplegic, and declined in tetraplegic subjects with increasing tilt angles. The index in paraplegics and tetraplegics was significantly lower than in able-bodied subjects at 20°, 40°, 60° and 80° HUT (group, tilt and group/tilt interaction p value ≤ 0.05)



Figure 4.39: Averaged (\pm SEM) percentage of heartbeats involved in SBP for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects in response to head up tilt. Group, tilt and group/tilt interaction p value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), Δ significantly different from PARA (same stress level), \Rightarrow significantly different from control (same group)

The Occurrence of Baroreflex Sequences

The occurrence of baroreflex sequences, an additional measure of baroreflex activity, was calculated as the number of beats involved in baroreflex sequences. It is reported as the percentage of total analyzed heart beats in a segment. The average (\pm SEM) percentage of heartbeats involved in baroreflex sequences is illustrated in Figure 4.40. The index increased significantly in able-bodied subjects, remained relatively unchanged in paraplegic, and declined in tetraplegic subjects with increasing tilt angles. Both SCI groups had significantly lower values than the able-bodied group at each tilt position (group, tilt and group/tilt interaction p value ≤ 0.05).



Figure 4.40: Averaged (\pm SEM) percentage of heartbeats involved in baroreflex sequences for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects in response to head up tilt. Group, tilt and group/tilt interaction p value ≤ 0.05 ; • significantly different from AB (same stress level), Δ significantly different from PARA (same stress level), \Rightarrow significantly different from control (same group)

The Baroreflex Effectiveness Index (BEI)

The BEI index is proposed to quantify the number of times that the baroreflex is effective in driving the sinus node (24). It was calculated as the ratio between the total number of baroreflex sequences and the total number of systolic blood pressure positive and negative ramps. The baroreflex effectiveness index, given in Figure 4.41, was greater in the able-bodied group than in the tetraplegic group (p < 0.05) and declined with increasing tilt in all groups. Positive and negative BEI values were similar at each level of head-up-tilt.



Figure 4.41: Averaged (\pm SEM) baroreflex effectiveness index for able-bodied (n=11), paraplegic (n=5) and tetraplegic (n=5) subjects in response to head up tilt. Group (TETRA < AB) and tilt effects p value < 0.05.

Chapter 5 : Discussion

The present study examined neural control of the heart and vascular function in able-bodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects during the injured subjects' acute phase of recovery. Orthostatic stress, induced by tilt table, was used to stimulate the cardiovascular control system. This simulation of standing is an accepted effective test for measuring cardiovascular reflexes (71). We had hypothesized that some aspects of the cardiovascular responses to head up tilt would provide early indicators of autonomic damage. The major findings of this study are summarized as below:

- Tetraplegic subjects demonstrated a significant reduction in their ability to regulate blood pressure in response to tilt.
- Spinal cord injured individuals had less dynamic activity in the LF and HF frequency range compared to able-bodied subjects for both blood pressure and heart rate.
- Upper and lower body skin perfusions spectral powers in the LF region in the SCI groups were significantly (p<0.05) lower than that of the able-bodied group.
- The tetraplegic group had low heart rate SNS index, and a high heart rate PNS index at the higher tilt levels. These indexes in the paraplegic group were comparable to that of the able-bodied group.
- Spinal cord injury resulted in a significant (p<0.05) reduction in the negative cross correlation peak and change in the time delay between fluctuations in systolic blood pressure and heart rate in response to increasing levels of HUT. This reduced correlation occurred in both LF (index of sympathetic activity) and HF (index of parasympathetic activity) regions.

- High levels of spinal cord injury affected the feed-forward relationship between systolic blood pressure and heart rate in LF and HF regions; the magnitude of the positive correlation decreased significantly (p<0.05), and the time lags increased with tilt.
- The baroreflex sensitivity index in the tetraplegic group was close to the ablebodied group whereas the index in the paraplegic group was the lowest among three groups. Paraplegics and tetraplegics demonstrated a significantly lower percentage of heartbeats involved in SBP ramps and in baroreflex sequences, and lower baroreflex effectiveness index than able-bodied subjects.

Mean Values

Resting mean blood pressure was not different among the three groups, but significantly decreased in the tetraplegic group with increasing tilt-induced orthostatic stress. Although lower resting mean blood pressures have been reported in tetraplegics (42), our study did not find a significant resting mean blood pressure difference between tetraplegic and able-bodied groups, also reported by others (41). Significant reduction in mean arterial blood pressure in response to head up tilt was also reported for tetraplegic subjects more than one-year post injury (42). In spite of significant increases in heart rate by able-bodied and paraplegic groups, the tilt-induced rise in heart rate in tetraplegics was not significant, and was not sufficient to maintain stable blood pressure in response to HUT. The heart rate increase in all groups is largely vagal withdrawal (41). Paraplegics had higher heart rates, significant in supine control and recovery, than ablebodied, as previously reported (34,35,80,41). One explanation might be that an activation of sympathetic outflow to the heart compensates for the lack of venous return caused by inefficient vascular innervation of splanchnic and lower limb regions (33). The low heart rate at supine and head up tilt in tetraplegic subjects could result from intact parasympathetic and damaged sympathetic outflow to the heart, and vasculature. The

mean stroke volumes in the SCI groups were lower than in the able-bodied group at supine positions and 20° HUT. The mean stoke volume differences between the SCI and able-bodied groups diminished with tilt. Lower stroke volume in paraplegics might be a result of their high heart rate. Mean upper body skin perfusion was well regulated in response to increasing orthostatic stress in the able-bodied and paraplegic groups, indicating intact sympathetic control to the upper body vasculature. However, the paraplegic group had lower values than able-bodied at each tilt level. This might be due to intact upper body sympathetic outflow that compensates for the damaged lower body sympathetic outflow. Mean resting upper body skin perfusion of tetraplegics was close to able-bodied, but significantly decreased with tilt, indicating lack of sympathetic control of the vasculature. Mean lower body skin perfusion was high in the able-bodied, and low in the tetraplegic groups, and significantly decreased with tilt in all groups. Significant decrease in mean lower body skin perfusion with tilt indicates increase in sympathetic outflow to the vasculature in able-bodied group. Since spectral power of lower body skin perfusion of both SCI groups was significantly lower than that in the able-bodied group at each tilt level, the source of decrease in mean lower body skin perfusion might not be due to increased sympathetic outflow, but rather to a greater tilt-induced plasma shift out of the vasculature (29).

Spectral Power

Low frequency spectral power of blood pressure increased significantly (p < 0.05) in the able-bodied group in response to HUT. This was an expected result, indicating increased sympathetic activity during orthostatic stress (30,76). Paraplegic spectral power of blood pressure in the LF region was significantly (p<0.05) lower than in the able-bodied at each tilt position, and remained fairly constant throughout the study, indicating stable sympathetic activity. Significant tilt-induced reduction of LF spectral power of systolic blood pressure in paraplegic patients (average 11 years post injury) has been reported (80). Since our paraplegics did not show a significant tilt-induced reduction in LF spectral power of blood pressure, the difference might be the result of long-term

lesions. Tetraplegics had the lowest LF power in all groups at each tilt level. The LF spectral power of the tetraplegic group also remained constant during increasing orthostatic stress. The lack of LF spectral power of blood pressure in compete cervical SCI subjects has been reported (42). The very weak power in our tetraplegic group during tilt might represent their mix of complete and incomplete injury status. Spectral power of blood pressure in the frequencies above 0.15 Hz was very small, and was not affected by increasing orthostatic stress in any of the three groups.

The LF spectral power of heart rate increased in the able-bodied group in response to head-up-tilt probably due to increased sympathetic activity (20,42,63). In both SCI groups, spectral powers of heart rate in the LF region were similar, but lower than that of the control group at rest. The paraplegic group was able to maintain LF power, while the tetraplegic group gradually reduced LF power in response to increasing orthostatic stress. Both SCI groups had significantly lower values at 60°, 80° HUT, and supine recovery than the control group. Maintenance of LF spectral power of heart rate in paraplegic subjects was also reported during head-up-tilt (80). In this study, paraplegics had higher LF power at rest, and lower power at tilted positions than did healthy subjects; however, our paraplegic group had lower LF spectral power of heart rate at each tilt position. Low frequency spectral power of heart rate in tetraplegics (minimum 2-month post injury) has been reported to be lower than in healthy subjects at rest and decreased in response to tilt (36) It also has been reported that tetraplegics who had complete traumatic cervical spinal cord injury between C4-C7 (minimum 19-year post injury) demonstrated absent LF power of heart rate (42).

The spectral power of heart rate in the HF region decreased with increasing stress in all three groups due to withdrawal of parasympathetic outflow to the heart. The paraplegic group had lower values than able-bodied and tetraplegic groups at rest; and became significantly lower than able-bodied at 20° 40° , 60° , 80° head-up-tilt. Lower resting and tilted values of spectral power of heart rate have been reported in paraplegics compared to healthy and tetraplegic subjects (20,80). The HF spectral power in the tetraplegic group was close to that of the able-bodied group at supine control, but was significantly lower at 40° , 60° , 80° head-up-tilt, and supine recovery. Comparable results were reported in the study of (42) and (21). These studies reported that able-bodied and tetraplegics had similar spectral power of heart rate at rest, and underwent similar reduction with increasing orthostatic stress. They did not find significant differences between healthy and tetraplegic subjects during tilt, as we did. Control of power within this frequency range is attributable almost exclusively to parasympathetic nervous activity (e.g. 69). Parasympathetic innervation of the SA-node via the vagus nerve is not interrupted by spinal injury, so these findings were unexpected: we had predicted that SCI subjects would have used HR more effectively, and therefore would have more oscillations in the HF range to stabilize BP in response to an orthostatic challenge.

Spectral power of respiration was decreased by tilt in all three groups. The tetraplegic group had high mean values at each tilt position; however, the variance around the mean was also large at each position.

Heart rate SNS index was calculated as the ratio between spectral power of heart rate in the LF and HF region. The LF/HF ratio represents an estimate of sympatho vagal cardiac control and does not provide information regarding the magnitude of change but rather the reciprocal nature of the two autonomic systems. During head-up-tilt, increases in this index are expected due to shifts in autonomic modulation of augmented sympathetic and attenuated parasympathetic activity. This index was reported to be increased 5 fold in healthy subjects, and 2 fold in paraplegic subjects (80) when subjects moved from supine to 75° HUT. Our able-bodied group increased its index from 1.9±0.3 to 9±2.1, approximately 5 fold change, and the paraplegic group increased its index from 2.7 ± 1.4 to 7.2 ± 2.5 during tilt, approximately 2.5 fold change. This index changed from 1.57 ± 0.3 to 2.9 ± 1 in the tetraplegic group, approximately 1.8 fold increases from rest. Having reasonable intact cardiac SNS modulation, paraplegics exhibited an altered sympatho vagal response to HUT; a similar finding was reported earlier (80). The tetraplegic group demonstrated lower SNS index values than those in able-bodied and paraplegic groups at each tilt level, indicating damage sympathetic outflow to the heart in this group.

The PNS index decreased from 0.57 ± 0.3 to 0.25 ± 0.04 , approximately a 0.5 fold reduction in healthy subjects in response to 80° HUT. This index was reduced by 0.58 times in paraplegics, and by 0.7 times in tetraplegics in response to 80° HUT. These

results indicate an altered parasympathetic activity in SCI, that was most pronounced in tetraplegics.

Significantly lower LF spectral power of blood pressure in the SCI groups indicates loss of sympathetic control of the vasculature, which is more significant in tetraplegic subjects. Since paraplegics have presumably intact sympathetic and parasympathetic activity to the heart, attenuation of heart rate power in LH and HF might be due to their decrease in baroreflex sensitivity. Withdrawal of parasympathetic activity in paraplegics during tilt was comparable to able-bodied group, but they exhibited altered sympathetic activity. Withdrawal of parasympathetic activity and increase in sympathetic activity in tetraplegics were lower than in able-bodied subjects in response to tilt, indicating parasympathetic dominance in this group. Increased respiratory variability in SCI may influence the interpretation of spectral power of blood pressure and heart rate.

Cross Correlation

Low Frequency Cross Correlation as an Index of Sympathetic Activity:

The tilt-induced increase in the magnitude of the negative peak of the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate represents a progressive increase in sympathetic nerve activity in able-bodied subjects, also previously reported (63). With peripheral vascular and cardiac spinal pathways impaired, paraplegics did not increase their cross correlation magnitude during tilt. Tetraplegics steadily lost correlation during tilt, probably due to loss of both cardiac and peripheral sympathetic pathways. All able-bodied subjects demonstrated strong, constant blue bands at each tilt position indicating strong, active feedback control. Although characterized by lower magnitude and time delay, the blue band was also consistent in all paraplegic subjects except a sixty-year-old subject who lost consistent correlation at higher stress levels. Besides demonstrating very low magnitude and erratic time delays, the negative feedback of tetraplegic subjects occurred only sporadically, indicating that feedback occurred in less than one out of the five minutes of data. Since patients with poor orthostatic tolerance had an increased phase shift between systolic blood pressure and heart rate

fluctuations as well as lower strength correlations (36), an increase in time delay also might contribute to the orthostatic hypotension problem following SCI.

High Frequency Cross Correlation as an Index of Parasympathetic Activity

The tilt-induced decrease in the magnitude of the negative peak of the cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate represents a progressive withdrawal of parasympathetic outflow that was present in all three groups, but was more pronounced in SCI subjects. Even though both paraplegic and tetraplegic groups had lower magnitude responses compared to able-bodied, paraplegic subjects did maintain feedback control at each tilt level, while tetraplegics increasingly lost control as tilt angles increased. The strong correlation at lower tilt angels in the tetraplegic group may be due to respiration since tetraplegic subjects demonstrated greater breathing fluctuation effects in heart rate and systolic blood pressure (5). Previous studies in able-bodied subjects reported a baroreflex latency of 0.5-0.6 sec (13,68), and significantly shorter latencies (27) in response to different types of stimuli. Another study reported that the time delay between baroreceptor stimulation and oscillations of RR-interval increased from 0.59±0.25 sec to 0.86±0.27 sec as their able-bodied subjects were moved from supine to 60° HUT (45). The time delay in our able-bodied group increased from 0.2 ± 0.07 sec to 0.62 ± 0.16 sec when subjects were moved from supine to 80 deg HUT. The difference between the results of these studies may lie in the different experiment protocols including length and levels of tilt and different data analysis. The time delay in our paraplegic subjects increased from 0.4 ± 0.09 to 0.8 ± 0.24 sec in response to tilt, in the range typical of vagal baroreflex control. The negative peak magnitude and time delay may not accurately represent the correlation between heart rate and systolic blood pressure in tetraplegic subjects due to noise interference with the weak correlation. Although we did our best to identify the negative peak magnitude and time delay values to represent each five-minute correlation, the inconsistencies lead us to conclude that it is more instructive to view the feedback structure of whole segments (Figures 4.30d, 4.31, 4.32, 4.33).

Baroreflex Sequences

The values of an able-bodied baroreflex sensitivity (slope of the RR-Interval vs. systolic blood pressure) fell in the range previously reported for both supine and HUT positions (25,36,42,52,63,81). Baroreflex sensitivity did not differ significantly between able-bodied and tetraplegics, similar to findings reported for able-bodied and tetraplegics studied 12+ months post injury (42,31). Paraplegics had lower baroreflex sensitivity at rest, and at each tilt position than did the other groups. This difference can probably be accounted for by the higher heart rates of paraplegics, a relationship previously established for able-bodied subjects by Abrahamsson (1). Our heart rate and baroreflex sensitivity data also show a similar response in all three groups at rest and during tilt, Figure 5.1.



Figure 5. 1: Relationship between heart rate (HR, closed) and baroreflex sensitivity (BRS, open) in three groups at rest and during tilt.

When the natural logarithm of baroreflex sensitivity is plotted against heart rate, an inverse linear relationship can be found, Figure 5.2. Able-bodied and tetraplegic groups had equivalent baroreflex sensitivities at heart rates < 70 bpm, while able-bodied and paraplegic groups demonstrated similar baroreflex sensitivities at heart rates > 75 bpm, indicating that baroreflex differences in response to tilt may be more influenced by heart rate than by SCI, Figure 5.2. These results are consistent with baroreflex sensitivity being strongly a function of parasympathetic outflow with vagal control of heart rate being essential intact after spinal cord injury.



Figure 5. 2: Relationship between heart rate (HR) and the natural logarithm of baroreflex sensitivity ln(BRS)) in three groups during tilt. (AB: Able-bodied, PARA: Paraplegic, TETRA: Tetraplegic

The occurrence of baroreflex sequences in our able-bodied subjects increased significantly from supine to head up tilt (14,36,53). We found a similar, tilt-induced increase in the percentage of beats involved in baroreflex sequences in our able bodied group. In addition, this group demonstrated a tilt-induced increase in the percentage of beats involved in generating SBP ramps. The percentage of heart beats involved in baroreflex sequences in our able-bodied group were in the range reported for a similar able-bodied group during supine rest (32 ± 0.02 %) and 60° HUT (41.3 ± 0.03 %) (14). Both paraplegic and tetraplegic groups had significantly less percentage of beats involved in SBP ramps and baroreflex sequences in response to HUT. Our data therefore support the concept that the stimulus to the baroreflex is diminished by spinal cord injury.

The baroreflex effectiveness index for able-bodied subjects decreased from 65.0 ± 0.03 % at supine to 48.7 ± 0.06 % at 80° HUT as baroreflex sensitivity decreased from 20.7 to 5.53 ms/mmHg, comparable to results of (70). In addition to the lower number of heartbeats involved in SBP ramps and baroreflex sequences, high spinal cord injury resulted in a lower baroreflex effectiveness index, BEI. We did not find significant differences between positive and negative BEI except that positive BEI was slightly higher in supine at rest and negative BEI was slightly higher at 80° HUT in able-bodied and paraplegic groups, opposite to that of tetraplegics.

Since both paraplegic and tetraplegic groups demonstrated a significantly (p<0.05) lower percentage of SBP ramps, resulting in significantly (p<0.05) lower percentage of baroreflex sequences, and lower baroreflex effectiveness index than the able-bodied group, it is likely that spinal cord injury decreased stimulation of arterial baroreceptors and less engagement of feedback control occurred. These data support the concept that the parasympathetically dominated baroreflex loses some of its capability to regulate heart rate in tetraplegics, and is not stimulated to regulate as powerfully. The mixed sympathetic, parasympathetic innervations of paraplegics, may contribute to the significant decrease in baroreflex sensitivity in that injury, or the higher heart rate may purely account for this effect.

Indexes to assess cardiovascular damage following SCI

Consistent and reproducible assessment scales are necessary to define acutely injured patient deficits and to facilitate communication with caregivers regarding the patient's status (1). The American Spinal Injury Association (ASIA) scale for neurological, and The Functional Independence Measure (FIM) for functional outcome are the most common scales. Besides the deficits in motor and sensory function following SCI, cardiovascular problems known to arise from sympathetic nervous system dysfunction are also common in acute SCI, especially those occurring in the cervical region. Despite these problems, there is no assessment test available to identify patient's cardiovascular deficits following SCI. In this study, we attempted to discriminate ablebodied from SCI, and paraplegic from tetraplegic using cardiovascular variables in response to tilt. In that regard, spectral power of blood pressure and heart rate in the LF region, the magnitude and time delay of cross correlation between heart rate and systolic blood pressure in LH and HF regions become major candidates for diagnostic indicators of the level of autonomic injury and subsequent recovery from injury.

Limitations of the study

A most challenging part of our study entailed recruiting SCI subjects immediately following injury. In addition, the complexity of classifying the injury contributed to large variability among subjects within the same group, such as complete or incomplete injury and different levels of injury. Also, spinal cord injured subjects were under different types of medications that might affect their short-term cardiovascular control mechanisms. Our SCI subjects might have been still in spinal shock, which is common in acute phase of injury. Increased respiratory variability in SCI may influence the interpretation of spectral power of blood pressure and heart rate. The results of hormonal changes and intra to extra vascular fluid shifts that are not reported here may shed further light on SCI effects on sympathetic and parasympathetic activity.

Chapter 6 : Conclusions

In this study, we attempted to quantify the neural control of cardiovascular function deficits following SCI. The LF spectral power of blood pressure and heart rate increased with tilt in the able-bodied group, remained unchanged in the paraplegic group and decreased in the tetraplegic group. The HF spectral power of heart rate decreased in all three groups. In respect to tilt, the peak cross correlation between systolic blood pressure and heart rate in the LF region was greatest in the able-bodied group, and significantly (p<0.05) increased during HUT in that group, remained approximately constant in the paraplegic group, and declined in the tetraplegic group. The peak cross correlation in the HF region significantly (p<0.05) decreased with tilt in all groups and was lower in SCI than in able-bodied at each tilt level. Both paraplegic and tetraplegic subjects demonstrate a lower percentage of systolic blood pressure ramps, baroreflex sequences, and lower baroreflex effectiveness indexes than able-bodied subjects. It is likely that spinal cord injury decreased stimulation of arterial baroreceptors and that less engagement of feedback control occurred. These data support the concept that the parasympathetically dominated baroreflex loses little of its capability to regulate heart rate in tetraplegics, but is not stimulated to regulate as often. The mixed sympathetic, parasympathetic innervations of paraplegics, may contribute to the significant decrease in baroreflex sensitivity in that injury, or higher heart rate may purely account for this effect. Moreover, the increased time delay in LF cross correlation between heart rate and systolic blood pressure might contribute to the orthostatic hypotension following spinal cord injury. Our data provide strong evidence that the pathways utilized to evoke baroreflex regulation of heart rate are compromised by spinal cord injury and this loss may be a major contributor to the decrease in orthostatic tolerance following injury.

Chapter 7 : Future Work

The SCI subject in the acute phase of recovery should be followed in his/her chronic phase of injury to quantify for further improvement or worsening of his/her condition. Recruiting spinal cord injured patients with the same level of lesion could be beneficial to identify cardiovascular deficits in certain injured groups. In addition to baroreflex sequences, nonbaroreflex sequences in able-bodied, paraplegic and tetraplegic groups may give additional important information on cardiovascular control following SCI. Longitudinal follow up studies from the same subjects would be beneficial to validate the proposed indexes.

Chapter 8 : Appendices

Appendix A:

Medications that could possibly affect data collection:

Drug	Classification	Can cause	Used by Subject
Hydrocodone/acetaminophen	narcotic	hypotension	4
Baclofen	skeletal muscle relaxant	hypotension	4,5
Oxycontin	narcotic	hypotension	5
Methadone	opiate analgesic	bradycardia, change in BP	8
Percocet	narcotic	hypotension	8, 13, 14
Zanaflex	skeletal muscle relaxant	hypotension	8
Lasix	Diuretic	Fluid loss	8
HCTZ	Antihypertensive/diuretic	hypotension/fluid loss	8, 15
Ritalin	cerebral stimulant	tachycardia, changes in BP	12
Dantrium	skeletal muscle relaxant	hypotension	4
Lorcet	narcotic	hypotension	5
Sudafed	decongestant	hypertension	14
Theorem 10 and	spasmolytic- relaxes smooth muscle of the	sinus tachycardia,	
Theophylline	respiratory system	nypotension, fluid retention	14
Zestril	Antihypertensive	hypotension	15

Appendix B:



Figure 8.1: Mean (\pm SEM) spectral power of blood pressure in response to head-up-tilt in three groups. First column is supine control, the next four columns are 20, 40, 60, and 80 deg HUT, and the last column is supine recovery.



Figure 8.2: Mean (±SEM) spectral power of heart rate in response to head-up-tilt in three groups. First column is supine control, the next four columns are 20, 40, 60, and 80 deg HUT, and the last column is supine recovery.



Figure 8.3: Mean (±SEM) spectral power of upper body skin perfusion in response to head-up-tilt in three groups. First column is supine control, the next four columns are 20, 40, 60, and 80 deg HUT, and the last column is supine recovery.


Figure 8.4: Mean (±SEM) spectral power of lower body skin perfusion in response to head-up-tilt in three groups. First column is supine control, the next four columns are 20, 40, 60, and 80 deg HUT, and the last column is supine recovery.

Appendix C:

Calculation of Heart Rate from blood pressure and ECG by ViiSoftware Browser

1. Heart rate (HR) is calculated as the reciprocal of the pulse-interval.

2. The beginning and end of a pulse interval is determined from an ECG or pulsatile blood-pressure (BP) signal by determining when either signal crosses a reference value while moving in a positive direction. That is when the signal exceeds the reference going from smaller to larger values.

3. The figure below shows both an ECG and a BP signal and shows the determination of the pulse intervals.



The blue line represents the reference for the blood-pressure signal whereas the red line the reference for the ECG. The length of the blue and red lines represents the pulseinterval (in units of time). Note the values calculated using the ECG or BP signals are not identical but over any length of time will be essentially the same.

4. A problem with BP is that its mean value varies so that selecting a reference value is problematic. The figure below shows a wandering BP signal and a failed attempt to set a suitable reference.



To overcome this problem the ViiSoftware Browser high-pass-filters the BP signal. The figure below shows the same BP signal after high-pass filtering. Note that setting a reference value is now not difficult.



In addition to the high-pass filter the signal is usually low-pass filtered to remove potentially high-frequency oscillations that could cause erroneously triggers and incorrect pulse-interval.

The ECG signal often does not need filtering but as a default the program filters the ECG signal.

When the signals are high pass filtered the mean value is close to zero. Hence the default value for the reference is zero although it can be changed with user input.

5. A potential problem in calculating HR is false triggers. A large BP dicrotic-notch or large ECG T-wave can cause such triggering. A parameter HR-limit is used to circumvent harmonic false triggers. The parameter in raw AD-units defines a dead-space after triggering in which a new trigger cannot occur.

\

References

- 1. Abrahamsson C, Ahlund C, Nordlander M, Lind L, A method for heart ratecorrected estimation of baroreflex sensitivity, Journal of Hypertension 21: 2133-2140, 2003
- 2. Aito S, Complications during the acute phase of traumatic spinal cord lesion, Spinal Cord 41: 629 635, 2003.
- 3. Andresen MC, Short and long term determinants of baroreceptor function in aged normotensive and spontaneous hypertensive rats, Corc. Res.,54;750-759, 1984
- 4. Armour JA, Hopkins, DA., Anatomy of the extrinsic efferent autonomic nerves and ganglia innervatin the mammalian heart, in Nervous Control of cardiovascular Function (Randall WC, ed.), Oxford University Press, 1984
- 5. Aslan S, Evans JM, Knapp CK, Patwardhan AR, Hartman EJ, Donohue K, McDowell S, Neural control of cardiovascular variables following spinal cord injury, The Faseb Journal, Part I, 442.3, A662, 2004
- 6. Baldridge BR, Burgess DE, Zimmerman EE, Carroll JJ, Sprinkle AG, Speakman RO, Li SG, Brown DR, Taylor RF, Dworkin S, Randall D, Heart ratearterial blood pressure relationship in conscious rat before vs. after spinal cord transaction, Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 283: R748 - R756, 2002
- 7. Ball PA, Critical care of spinal cord injury, Spine 26, (24S): S27 S30, 2001
- 8. **Baselli G, Cerutti S, Civardi S, Malliani A, Pagani M,** Cardiovascular variability signals: towards the identification of a closed-loop model of the neural control mechanisms, IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 35:1033-1046, 1988
- 9. Berne RM, Levy MN, Principles of Physiology, Mosby, 2000
- 10. Bertinieri G, DiRienzo M, Cavallazzi A, Ferrari AU, Pedotti A, Mancia G, A new approach to analysis of the arterial baroreflex, J Hypertens Suppl 3: S79-S81, 1985
- 11. Bilello JF, Davis JW, Cunningham MA, Groom TF, Lemaster D, Sue LP, Cervical spinal injury and the need for cardiovascular intervention, Arch Surg 138:1127 -1129, 2003.
- 12. Blaber AP, Yamamoto Y, Hughson RL, Methodology of spontaneous baroreflex relationship assessed by surrogate date analysis, Am J Physiol 268: H1682-H1687, 1995

- 13. Borst C, Karemaker JM, Time delays in the human baroreceptor reflex, J Auton Nervous Syst 9: 399-409, 1993
- 14. **Bouhaddi MB, Henriet MT, Cappelle S, Dumoulin G, Regnard J**, Active standing and passive tilting similarly reduce the slope of spontaneous baroreflex in healthy subjects, Physiological Research 47; 227-235, 1998
- 15. Braddom RL., Physiatric implications of Medicare's final rule, A commentary, Jul-Aug;75(4):317-9, Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 1996
- 16. **Bravo G, Guizar-Sahagun G, Ibarra A, Centurion D, Villalon CM**., Cardiovascular alterations after spinal cord injury: an overview, Apr;2(2):133-48, Curr Med Chem Cardiovasc Hematol Agents. 2004
- 17. Carlson GD, Gorden C, Current Development in Spinal Cord Injury Research, The Spine Journal 2: 116-128, 2002
- Cerutti S, Barres C, Paultre CZ, Baroreflex modulation of blood pressure and heart rate variabilities in rats: assessment by spectral power analysis, Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 266: H1993-H2000, 1994
- 19. Chapleau, M.W., Lu, J., Hajduczok, G., Abboud, FM, Mechanism of baroreceptor adaption in dogs:Attenuation of adaption by the K+ channel blocker 4-aminopyridine, J. Phsiol., 462; 291-306, 1993
- 20. Claydon VE, Steeves JD, Krassioukov A, Orthostatic hypotension following spinal cord injury: understanding clinical pathophysiology, 1362; 4393, Spinal Cord, 2005
- 21. Cohen MA, Taylor JA, Short term cardiovascular oscillations in man: measuring and modeling the physiologies, J Physiology, 542.3:669-683, 2002
- 22. Coleridge, H.M., Coleridde, J.C.G., Poore, E.R., Roberts, AM, Schultz, HD., Aortic wall properties and baroreceptor behavior at normal arterial pressure and in acute hypertensive resetting in dogs. J. Physiol. 350:309-326, 1984
- 23. **DeBoer RW, Karemaker JW, Stracke J,** Hemodynamic fluctuation and baroreflex sensitivity in humans: a beat to beat model, Am J Physiol 253: 680 689, 1987
- 24. **Di Rienzo M, Parati G, Castiglioni P, Tordi R, Mancia G, Pedotti A,** Baroreflex effectiveness index: an additional measure of baroreflex control of heart rate in daily life, Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 280: R744-R751, 2001
- 25. Di Rienzo, Castiglioni P, Mancia G, Pedotti A, Parati G, Advancements in estimating baroreflex function; IEEE Eng in Med and Bio, 25-32, 2001

- 26. **Dum NJ, Machado BH, Pilowsky PM**, "Neural Mechanisms of cardiovascular control", Kluwer Academic Publisher, 2004
- 27. Eckberg DL, Temporal response patterns of the human sinus node to brief carotid baroreceptor stimuli, J Physiol (Lond) 258: 769-782, 1976
- 28. Ellaway PH, Anand P, Bergstrom EM, Catley M, Davey NJ, Frankel HL, Jamous A, Mathias C, Nicotra A, Savic G, Short D, Theodorou S., Towards improved clinical and physiological assessments of recovery in spinal cord injury: a clinical initiative, 42(6); 325-337, Spinal Cord, 2004
- 29. Evans J, Aslan S, Hogancamp C, Parwardhan A, Voght A, Randall D, Brown D, McDowell S, Hartman E, Hartman A, Taylor R, Lee K, Li G, Martin T, Knapp C, Decrements in Blood Pressure Regulation in Spinal Cord Injured Patients Compared to Able Bodied Subjects, Spinal Cord and Brain Injury Rehabilitation Symposium, 2005
- Furlan R, Porta A, Costa F, Tank J, Baker L, Schiavi R, Robertson D, Malliani A, Mosqueda-Garcia R., Oscillatory patterns in sympathetic neural discharge and cardiovascular variables during orthostatic stimulus, Feb 29;101(8):886-92, Circulation, 2000
- Gao SA, Anneli A, Lambert G, Karlsson AK, Autonomic control of the heart rate and renal vascular bed during autonomic dysreflexia in high spinal injury, 12; 457-464, Clin Auton Res, 2002
- 32. Garshick E, Kelley A, Cohen SA, Garrison A, Tun CG, Gagnon D, Brown R.A., Prospective assessment of mortality in chronic spinal cord injury, 43; 408-416, Spinal Cord, 2005
- 33. Giampiero M, Di Rienzo M, Parati G, Veicsteinas A, Castiglioni P, Assessment of the autonomic control of heart rate variability in healthy and spinal cord injured subjects: Contribution of different complexity-based estimator, 53;43-52, IEEE Trans Biomedical Eng, 2006
- 34. Groothuis JT, Boot CR, Houtman S, van Langen H, Hopman MT., Leg vascular resistance increases during head-up tilt in paraplegics, 94(4):408-14, Eur J Appl Physiol. 2005
- 35. Groothuis JT, Boot CR, Houtman S, van Langen H, Hopman MT, Does peripheral nerve degeneration affect circulatory responses to head-up tilt in spinal cord-injured individuals?, 15(2):99-106, Clin Auton Res. 2005

- 36. Gulli G, Claydon VE, Cooper VL, Hainsworth R, R-R interval-blood pressure interaction in subjects with different tolerances to orthostatic stress, Exp Physiol 90(3): 367-75, 2005
- 37. Guzzetti S, Cogliati C, Broggi C, Carozzi C, Caldiroli D, Lombardi F, Malliani A., Influences of neural mechanisms on heart period and arterial pressure variabilities in quadriplegic patients, Mar; 266(3 Pt 2):H1112-20, Am J Physiol. 1994
- 38. **Hadley, MN,** "Clinical Assessment After Acute Cervical Spinal Cord Injury", Neurosurgery 50(3): S21-S29, 2002
- 39. Halàmek J, Kàra T, Juràk P, Souček M, Francis DP, Davies LC, Shen WK, Coats AJS, Novàk M, Novàkovà Z, Panovský R, Toman J, Šumbera J, Somers VK, Variability of phase shift between blood pressure and heart rate fluctuations, Circulation 108: 292-297, 2003
- 40. Hirsch JA, Bishop B., Respiratory sinus arrhythmia in humans: how breathing pattern modulates heart rate, Oct;241(4):H620-9, Am J Physiol. 1981
- 41. Houtman S, Oeseburg B, Hughson RL, Hopman MT., Sympathetic nervous system activity and cardiovascular homeostatis during head-up tilt in patients with spinal cord injuries, 10(4):207-12, Clin Auton Res. 2000
- 42. Iellamo F, Legramante JM, Massaro M, Galante A, Pigozzi F, Claudio Nardozi, Santilli V, Spontaneous Baroreflex modulation of heart rate and heart rate variability during orthostatic stress in tetraplegics and healthy subjects, Journal of Hypertension 19,No:12: 2231-2240, 2001
- 43. **Illman A, Stiller K, Williams M,** "The prevalence of orthostatic hypotension during physiotherapy treatment in patients with an acute spinal cord injury", **Spinal Cord** 3:741-747, 2000
- 44. Julien C, Malpas SC, Stauss HM, Sympathetic modulation of blood pressure variability, 19(10):1707-12, J Hypertens. 2001
- 45. Keyl C, Schneider A, Dambacher M, Bernardi L, Time delay of vagally mediated cardiac baroreflex response varies with autonomic cardiovascular control, J Appl Physiol 91: 283-289, 2001
- 46. Klabunde RE, Cardiovascular Physiology Concepts, Lippincott Williams&Wilkins, 2005
- 47. Krassioukov AV, Fehlings MG, Effects of graded spinal cord compression on cardiovascular neurons in the rostra-ventro-lateral medulla, Neuroscience 88: 959 973, 1999

- 48. Krassioukov AC, Weaver LC, Morphological changes in sympathetic preganglionic neurons after spinal cord injury in rats. 70; 211–226. Neuroscience, 1996
- 49. Krebs M, Ragnarrson KT, Tuckman J, Orthostatic vasomotor response in spinal man. 21; 72–80, Paraplegia,1983
- Krum H, Howes LG, Brown DJ, Ungar G, Moore P, McNeil JJ, Louis WJ., Risk factors for cardiovascular disease in chronic spinal cord injury patients, 30; 381-388, Paraplegia, 1992
- Lanfranchi PA, Somers VK, Arterial Baroreflex function and cardiovascular variability: interactions and implications, Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 283: R815-R826, 2002
- 52. Laude D, Elghozi J-L, Girard A, Bellard E, Bouhaddi M, Castiglioni P et al., Comparison of various techniques used to estimate spontaneous baroreflex sensitivity (the EuroBaVar study), Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol 286: R226-R231, 2004
- 53. Legramante JM, Raimondi G, Massaro M, Iellamo F., Positive and negative feedback mechanisms in the neural regulation of cardiovascular function in healthy and spinal cord-injured humans, Circulation 6;103(9):1250-5, 2001
- 54. Lehmann KG, Lane JG, Piepmeier JM, Cardiovascular abnormalities accompanying acute spinal cord injury in humans: incidence time course and severity, J Am Coll Cardiol 10: 46 52, 1987
- 55. Levick JR., An introduction to Cardiovascular Physiology, Arnold Publisher, 2003
- 56. Lucini D, Guzzetti S, Casiraghi S, Pagani M, Correlation between baroreflex gain an 24-h indices of heart rate variability", J Hypertension 20 (8): 1625 - 1631, 2002
- 57. Malliani A, Pagani M, Lombardi F, Cerutti S., Cardiovascular neural regulation explored in the frequency domain, Aug;84(2):482-92, Circulation. 1991
- 58. Merati G, Di Rienzo M, Parati G, Veicsteinas A, Castiglioni P., Assessment of the autonomic control of heart rate variability in healthy and spinal-cord injured subjects: contribution of different complexity-based estimators, 53(1):43-52, : IEEE Trans Biomed Eng. 2006
- 59. McDonald JW, Sadowsky C., Spinal-cord injury, The Lancet 359: 417 425, 2002
- 60. Mohrman DE, Heller LJ, Cardiovascular Physiology, McGraw-Hill, 2003

- 61. Montana N, Ruscone TG, Porta A, Lombardi F, Pagani M, Malliani A, "Power spectrum analysis of heart rate variability to assess the changes in sympathovagal balance during graded orthostatic tilt", Circulation, 90(4):1826-1831, 1994
- 62. Mullen TJ, Appel ML, Mukkamala R, Mathias JM, Cohen RJ, System identification of closed-loop cardiovascular control: effects of posture and autonomic blockade, Am J Physiol 272:H448-H461, 1997
- 63. O'Leary DD, Kimmerly DS, Cechetto A.D., Shoemaker K, Differential effect of head-up tilt on cardiovagal and sympathetic baroreflex sensitivity in humans, Experimental physiology 88.6: 769-774, 2004
- 64. **Parati G, Saul JP, Castiglioni P**, Assessing arterial baroreflex control of heart rate: new perspectives, Journal of Hypertension 22: 1259-1263, 2004
- 65. **Parati G, Saul JP, DiRienzo M, Mancia G,** Spectral analysis of blood pressure and heart rate variability in evaluating cardiovascular regulation, Hypertension 25: 1058-1068, 1995
- 66. **Parlow J, Viale JP, Hughson AG, Quintin L,** Spontaneous cardiac baroreflex in human; comparison with drugs-induced responses, Hypertension 225: 1058-1068, 1995
- 67. Persson PB, DiRienzo M, Castiglioni P, Cerutti C, Pagani M, Honzikova N, Akselrod S, Parati G, Time versus frequency domain techniques for assessing baroreflex sensitivity, J Hypertension 19, #10: 1699-1705, 2001
- 68. **Pickering TG, Davies J**, Estimating of the conduction time of baroreceptors-cardiac reflex in man, Cardiovasc Res 7: 213-219, 1973
- Randall, DC, Brown DR, Raisch RM, Randall WC, SA-nodal parasympathectomy delineates autonomic contributions to heart rate power spectrum, Am J Physiol 260 (29): H985 - H988, 1991
- 70. **Reyes del Paso G, Gonzàlez I, Hernàndez JA,** Baroreceptor sensitivity and effectiveness varies differentially as a function of cognitive –attentional demands, Biological Psychology 67: 385-395, 2004
- Rickards CA, Newman DG., A comparative assessment of two techniques for investigating initial cardiovascular reflexes under acute orthostatic stress, 90(5-6):449-57, Eur J Appl Physiol. 2003
- 72. Robbe HWJ, Mulder LJM, Ruddel H, Langewitz WA, Veldman JBP, Mulder G, Assessment of baroreceptor reflex sensitivity by mean of spectral analysis, Hypertension 10:538-543, 1987

- 73. Saul JP, Berger RD, AlbrechtP, Stein SP, Chen MH, Cohen RJ, Transfer function analysis of the circulation:unique insight into cardiovascular regulation, Am J Physiol 261:H1231-H1245, 1991
- 74. Sherwood L, Human Physiology: From Cell to System, Wadsworth 2003
- 75. Sleight P, La Rovere MT, Mortara A, Pinna G, Maestri R, Leuzzi S, Bianchini B, Tavazzi L, Bernardi L, Physiology and pathophysiology of heart rate and blood pressure variability in humans: is power spectral analysis largely an index of baroreflex gain?, Clin Sci (Colch) 88: 103 109, 1995
- 76. Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and the North American Society of Pacing and Electrophysiology, Heart rate variability. Standards of measurement, physiological interpretation, and clinical use, Circulation 93 :1043 -1065, 1996
- 77. **Teasell RW, Malcolm OA, Krassioukov A, Delaney GA,** Cardiovascular consequences of loss of supraspinal control of the sympathetic nervous system after spinal cord injury, Arch Phys Med Rehabil 81: 506 516, 2000
- 78. Ter Host GJ, The Nervous System and the Heart, Human Press, 2000
- 79. Vander A, Sherman J, Luciano D, Human Physiology: The Mechanisms of Body Function, McGraw Hill, 2001
- 80. Wecht JM, De Meersman RE, Weir JP, Spungen AM, Bauman WA, Cardiac Autonomic Response to progressive head up tilt in individuals with Paraplegia, Clin Auton Res 13, 433-438, 2003
- 81. Westerhof BE, Gisolf J, Stok WJ, Wesseling KH, Karemaker JM, Time-domain cross correlation baroreflex sensitivity: performance the EuroBaVar data set, J Hypertens 22: 1371-1380, 2004
- 82. Cramer GD, Darby SA, Basic and Clinical Anatomy of the Spine, Spinal Cord, and ANS, Mosby, 1995

VITA

SEVDA C. Aslan

Born: November 3, 1966 Place of Birth: Ankara, TURKEY

Master of Science, Electrical and Electronics Engineering, June 1992 Hacettepe University, Ankara, Turkey. Thesis: *Multivariable Optimal Control Design in Frequency Domain*

Bachelor of Science, Electrical and Electronics Engineering, June 1987 Gazi University, Ankara, Turkey

HONORS

Turkish Higher Education Council Doctoral Scholarship, 1992-1994 Turkish Government Scholarship, 1983-1987

EXPERIENCES

Research Assistant, University of Kentucky, 2002- 2006 Visiting Scholar, Penn State University, 1997-98 Teaching and Research Assistant, Haccettepe University, 1992-1994 Teaching Assistant, Gazi University, 1988-1992 Computer System Administrator, Yavuz Computer, 1987-1988